# Methodological Manual





Co-funded by the European Union





# Impressum

#### Project Title: EmpowHERment LAB

**Program:** Erasmus+ KA220 in the field of Adult Education

Project Reference Code: 2021-1-HR01-KA220-ADU-000029700

**Project Coordinator**: Pučko otvoreno učilište Čakovec (Croatia)

**Project Partners**: Asociación Building Bridges (Spain), Ljudska univerza Lendava (Slovenia), SuperCode (Germany), Enjoy Sicily (Italy), Lava Legato (the Netherlands)

Project Website: empowherment.eu

**National Agency**: Agency for Mobility and EU Programmes (AMPEU)

#### Publication Title: Methodological Manual

**Summary**: The EmpowHERment LAB Methodological Manual provides a comprehensive overview of the methodologies applied to the project. It aims to bridge the digital skills gap in women. The project focuses on bringing them closer to employment by preparing them in areas such as digital marketing, personal branding, content marketing, and in-depth digital marketing concepts such as SEO, SEA, and SEM. This Methodological Manual is a collaborative effort of all partners in the project consortium.

**Disclaimer**: Funded by the European Union. Views and opinions expressed are however those of the author(s) only and do not necessarily reflect those of the European Union or Agency for Mobility and EU Programmes (AMPEU). Neither the European Union nor the granting authority can be held responsible for them.

**Copyright**: This publication is licensed to the public under a Creative Commons Attribution (**CC BY-NC 4.0**) license.





# Project Info

# empow**her**ment<sup>2ab</sup>

The project EmpowHERment LAB aims to help empower women through gaining digital skills and competences. The project aims to do so by addressing the lack of women in the ICT sector and providing training opportunities for women to gain skills in areas like web development, cybersecurity, digital marketing, and social entrepreneurship. A key focus is on women at risk of social exclusion due to economic, geographic, cultural or other various difficulties. The project objectives are: to motivate and spark new interests in disadvantaged women through ICT, provide new tools and methodologies for adult educators to update their teaching, foster active participation of women in building digital skills, promote proper use of technologies for new learning methods, break down cultural barriers for women in ICT, and provide adult training centres with a gender perspective. The main activities of the project are: the creation of a Bootcamp with modules on digital marketing tools and techniques, development of a skills manual for women entrepreneurs and trainers in ICT, the establishment of 6 Hubs across Europe for face-to-face learning, and organization of dissemination events in each country at the end of the project. The expected results include empowerment and new skills for women participants, updated skills for adult educators, stronger networks between organizations, and widely available training materials and methodologies.





# Partner

Info

## Pučko otvoreno učilište Čakovec (Croatia)



Public Open University Čakovec is an adult education institution founded in 1955 by the town of Čakovec. The institution works in several key areas: formal adult education and vocational adult education. Their programmes are mostly aimed at people with primary or secondary school education who want to become more competitive in the job market.

## Asociación Building Bridges (Spain)



Building Bridges Cultural Association was founded in 2008 to promote a spirit and community integration and to foster European culture awareness among the youth. Building Bridges is active at the local level as a tool to assist and support the implementation of nonformal education courses and improving knowledge of the European labour system practices.

## SuperCode (Germany)

super(code)

SuperCode is a young and agile institute for digital competencies in Düsseldorf / NRW / Germany. To start their career as programmers, SuperCode trains people for job-relevant coding / digital skills in intensive courses (full-time / part-time) and in career development for the IT sector.





### Ljudska univerza Lendava (Slovenia)



LJUDSKA UNIVERZA LENDAVA NÉPI EGYETEM LENDVA Adult Education Centre Lendava is an adult education institute founded in 1959 by the Municipality of Lendava. For more than 60 years, it has been responsible for the dissemination of knowledge among adults in the administrative units of Lendava and beyond. Over the years, AEC Lendava developed from a classical school for adults into a modern lifelong learning centre and became one of the leading adult education institutes in Slovenia. AEC Lendava has always been focused on people and the needs of the society in the field of education.

#### **Enjoy Sicily (Italy)**



The cultural association Enjoy Sicily was founded in 2011 as an informal group of young people who love their territory and are willing to revitalize the local community by organizing cultural, sports and artistic activities for the benefit of all concerned. Since 2011, the group Enjoy Sicily, made up of social educators, teachers, psychologists and fans of European policies, has carried out several projects for the promotion and dissemination of culture and European citizenship among young people.

#### Lava Legato (the Netherlands)



The Lava Legato Foundation has been involved in the Erasmus programme for 20 years and is currently also an active participant in the European Solidarity Corps (ESC) program. All the foundation activities are centred around: social entrepreneurship; intercultural collaboration; facilitating paid and volunteer labour; artistic expression. The foundation believes in working together with a great variety of people and organizations and has a local, regional and international network of partners.





# Contents

Foreword	I
For whom is this Manual?	2
Women in Tech & Entrepreneurship	4
The Importance of Representation	5
Inspiring European Women in Technology and Marketing	5
EmpowHERment through Entrepreneurship	9
Fostering Women's EntrepreneurshipIO	0
Information Communication Technologies: A Means to EmpowHERmentI	I
Women in the ICT Sector	3
Teaching Aid ResourcesI4	4
Further ReadingI	5
Non-formal Educational Tools and Methodologies	7
Exploring Non-Formal Tools and Methodologies	7
Non-Formal Education: A Paradigm Shift	B
Non-Formal Tools and Methodologies: Unleashing Creativity	9
Examples of Non-Formal Tools and Methodologies	9
Games and Simulations in Non-Formal Education20	0
Experiential Learning in Non-Formal Education	2
Peer Learning in Non-Formal Education2	5
Mentoring and Coaching in Non-Formal Education	7
Special Note on Online Tools28	B
Practical Examples of Non-Formal Methodologies30	0
Teaching Aid Resources	2
Further Reading	3
Supporting Diverse Learning Groups to Learn and Grow	5
Defining Diverse Learning Groups: Who are the Potential Target Groups?	6
What Different Types of Learning Difficulties can be Identified?	B
Identifying Learning Obstacles	9
Specific Challenges Related to Digital Competencies4	I





Support Networks for Learners with Diverse Needs4	I
Strategies to Overcome Learning Obstacles42	2
Some Relevant Theoretical Concepts on Learning Relevant for all Learners44	4
What does this Mean in Daily Practice? Examples by Lava Legato Team4!	5
Teaching Aid Resources48	B
Further Reading49	9
Inclusive and Sustainable Education: Embracing Low-tech and No-Tech Solutions5	I
Forms of the Digital Divide52	2
Defining No-tech and Low-tech approaches in Adult Education56	6
Common Tools and Techniques Employed in No-tech and Low-tech Approaches5	7
Examples of Open and Environmentally-friendly Resources60	0
A Selection of Unplugged Activities Tailored for Teaching Digital Skills to Adul Learners	t I
Teaching Aid Resources62	2
Further Reading64	4
Statistical Data and Analysis	6
Think Globally, Validate Locally!66	6
The Importance of Surveying your Local Learners' Needs68	B
Survey Structure	9
Key Findings in EmpowHERment LAB Surveys70	0
Strength in the Diversity73	3
Teaching Aid Resources74	4
Further Reading7!	5
Building a Bootcamp: A Comprehensive Look at Methodologies and Challenges Faceo	։ շ
Resources Created	B
Preparing for your Online Bootcamp82	2
Methodologies83	3
Content Creation and Adaptation83	3
Selection of an Online Learning Platform8!	5
Accessibility Implementation	6





Language Support	87
Learner Engagement Strategies	88
Monitoring and Continuous Improvement	89
Summations	90
Teaching Aid Resources	90
Further Reading	91
Conclusion	93







# Foreword

An introduction and foreword by Pučko otvoreno učilište Čakovec and Asociación Building Bridges. A brief detail about the target audience of this Methodological Manual and its practical applications is presented.

Funded by the European Union. Views and opinions expressed are however those of the author(s) only and do not necessarily reflect those of the European Union or Agency for Mobility and EU Programmes (AMPEU). Neither the European Union nor the granting authority can be held responsible for them.

Welcome to the EmpowHERment LAB Methodological Manual, a comprehensive guide designed for educators, teachers, and other facilitators who are leading the way in transforming digital education. This manual is the result of extensive research and practical insights designed to guide educational professionals in developing inclusive, effective, and transformative learning environments. As we are living in an era where digital competence is not just an asset, but a necessity, this manual emerges as a vital tool in bridging the digital divide and fostering digital literacy among diverse learner populations.

The manual is organized into 6 chapters, each addressing one aspect of digital education. "Women in Tech & Entrepreneurship" explores strategies to enhance female engagement and leadership in technology fields. "Non-Formal Educational Tools and Methodologies" delves into innovative and flexible educational approaches outside traditional classroom settings. "Supporting Diverse Learning Groups to Learn and Grow" highlights methods to cater to the unique needs of diverse learners and learners with diverse needs. "Inclusive and Sustainable Education: Embracing Low-Tech and No-Tech Solutions" addresses the importance of accessible educational practices in various technological contexts. "Statistical Data & Analysis" provides insights into the role of data in understanding and improving educational outcomes. Lastly, "Building a Bootcamp: A Comprehensive Look at Methodologies and Challenges Faced" offers practical guidance for creating effective, immersive learning experiences in bootcamp settings. Together, these chapters provide a rounded perspective on critical themes in digital education, emphasizing inclusivity and empowerment.





L

The manual puts a strong emphasis on the principles of inclusivity, continuous learning, and adaptability. Recognizing the rapid pace of technological advancements and the diverse backgrounds of learners, this guide serves as a beacon for educators to navigate the complexities of digital education. It offers a plethora of strategies, tools, and insights to enable educators to not only impart knowledge but also inspire a passion for lifelong learning in the learners they teach. Through this manual, educators and teachers are equipped to foster environments where learning is dynamic, inclusive, and reflective of the multifaceted nature of our digital society, ensuring that the journey of education is as enriching and empowering as its destination.

## For whom is this Manual?

This manual is primarily designed for educators, trainers, youth workers, and mentors who are dedicated to equipping individuals with essential digital skills, and who may be working in complex settings or with target groups that present environmental or personal challenges due to their situations and distance from a potential labour market. Whether you are deeply committed to formal teaching or occasionally engage in training sessions, whether you are a seasoned mentor or a passionate youth worker, this manual is here to help guide you. As the EmpowHERment LAB Methodological Manual caters to a diverse set of people, all of whom have in common the element of facilitating knowledge and knowledge transfer, we find it important to highlight some of the potential applications for each one.

**Educators**: For teachers and educators, this manual is a methodological toolkit which, based on the profile of your learners, will be able to provide you with specific and tailored tools for developing a comprehensive roadmap to learning.

**Trainers**: If you are a professional trainer, this manual enhances your ability to deliver impactful training programs. This manual can now be part of your toolkit for delivering trainings in alternate ways, such as bootcamps. This manual contains essential approaches to structuring your information in a way considerate to your environment, and to your audience.

**Youth workers**: Youth workers play a pivotal role in guiding young individuals towards a brighter future. This manual is tailored to help youth workers empower their proteges with digital skills and knowledge through various methodologies, with a special mention to nonformal methodologies, and, if the environment requires you to, a set of low-tech and no-tech approaches to delivering practical information to your learners.



**Mentors**: For mentors, this manual is your compass in navigating the digital landscape with your mentees. It offers a structured approach to mentoring, focusing on digital empowerment. Whether you are mentoring professionals, aspiring entrepreneurs, or individuals with specific goals, this manual equips you with the tools and methodologies to guide them towards digital success.

In essence, this manual is an inclusive resource. While it caters to educators, trainers, youth workers, and mentors dedicated to these roles, it also takes into account anyone who may be exercising these roles in complex situations or with diverse target groups. It serves those who recognize the importance of digital skills in today's world and are imparting this knowledge to those who need it the most.





# Women in Tech & Entrepreneurship

Through their impressive background empowering women in and at risk of exclusion, Ljudska univerza Lendava brings a wealth of knowledge on the need to recognize European examples of women who have stood out in the history of our continent for their trajectory in the world of technology, as a means of empowerment.

Funded by the European Union. Views and opinions expressed are however those of the author(s) only and do not necessarily reflect those of the European Union or Agency for Mobility and EU Programmes (AMPEU). Neither the European Union nor the granting authority can be held responsible for them.

This chapter reflects on the progress and challenges of women in technology and entrepreneurship, linking to EmpowHERment LAB project's aim of enhancing female participation in these fields. It serves as a resource for educators to understand the unique barriers women face and offers strategies to support and inspire female learners in tech and entrepreneurial roles.

When thinking about the elite or the most important people in a field, we still often fall into the trap of visualising typically white men in fancy suits, and the business or technological world is no exception to that. While they might indeed be the majority, more and more individuals with fewer opportunities manage to rise up, including women. In comparison to men, only about 30% of leading roles in the business world belong to women, and in technological work, these numbers are even lower, at 17% in 2020. With no representatives or role models, it is no surprise that these two fields remain mainly in the men's world.



Besides poor representation, different expectations and forms of discrimination are also recurring issues for women in the business or ICT world, best described by the quote of Mrs Dernovšek, the president and CEO of the Lottery Slovenia: "I believe that women and men are essentially equally competent. However, there is a difference in how they are perceived. In the world of business and politics, men are assumed to be competent by default and are only deemed incompetent if they make mistakes. Yet the same does not hold true for women, who must prove their worth first and are only recognised as competent if they work without making mistakes." This is why we decided to introduce you to some of Europe's most influential and important women in these two fields, while also presenting some guidelines on how to empower women to reach their potential and goals.

This module will cover the following topics:

- The importance of representation;
- Inspiring European women in technology and marketing;
- Fostering women's entrepreneurship;
- Women in the ICT sector.

# The Importance of Representation

Explaining women's empowerment, its importance, its history and the present challenges may seem like a topic that is discussed on a daily basis, yet the changes are happening slower than we would like to see them. Part of the reason can be the low visibility and little representation women or better, young girls have when learning about the technological and marketing field. For this reason, it is of utmost importance to shed light on women who can serve as role-models for your learners to get inspired and motivated. In the following sections the spotlight will be on some of such potential rolemodels.

# Inspiring European Women in Technology and Marketing

When making the list of women from Europe, who were or are still relevant in either the technological or marketing world, we picked the ones that we found the most





5

reliable, important and interesting. However, this list is not exhaustive, and we hope to inspire every reader to further research this topic to find even more inspiring women in these fields. We also want to point out, that there are a lot of influential and important women in other fields, who contributed to the visibility of working and leading women and are also worth being looked up.

We would like to clarify here, that there are a lot of women in Europe and worldwide, who have contributed significantly to women's rights in working and fighting the injustice when it comes to work discrimination towards women in the workplace. Most of them are active politicians or activists, which is why we did not include them in this list, but would still like to encourage you to look them up on your own.

#### Augusta Ada King aka Ada Lovelace (1815-1852)

She was the Countess of Lovelace, a very talented mathematician, a poet and considered the first woman programmer. She is best known for her work on Charles Babbage's proposed mechanical general-purpose computer, the Analytical Engine, as she was the first to recognise that the machine had applications beyond pure calculation. Her manuscripts were one of the main inspirations for Alan Turing's modern computer. Her work first and contributions are the reason why she is still considered an inspiration for women in technology.



#### Helena Rubinstein (1872-1965)



Born in Poland, Helena Rubinstein refused an arranged marriage and migrated to Australia with no savings and only a little knowledge of English. Her European looks and style helped her gain customers for her beauty cream. From selling her products in a small market to opening shops in Sydney, London, Paris and New York. In times, when women were not even allowed to get loans, she was making herself a millionaire and is therefore still a very important role model in the cosmetics industry. Today, her company is owned by L'Oreal.



#### Beate Uhse-Rotermund (1919-2001)

A rather interesting and special place on the list is reserved for Beate Uhse-Rotermund, a German pilot, entrepreneur and sex pioneer. When her pilot career ended after the War, she looked for a different way of earning money. She started by selling products door-to-door where she learned about the different issues women were facing, especially regarding their sex lives. This is when she decided to educate them on it, starting by giving away brochures and giving advice on sexuality and eroticism via mail. In 1951 she opened her company and started selling special products for marital hygiene. This is considered one of the first sex shops, which is why she was having a lot of problems with the police due to criticism and public accusations about the moral side of her business. However, she managed to push through, and her company Beate Uhse Mail Order Co. is still the most successful sex shop line in Germany today.



#### Anita Roddick (1942-2007)



Another important name in the cosmetics industry is Anita Roddick, born in the UK, who was a businesswoman, human rights activist and environmental campaigner, and is best known as the founder of The Body Shop. While owning a business, she also had a lot of influence in her field, as her company was one of the first to prohibit the use of ingredients tested on animals and to promote fair trade with developing countries. Later she was also fighting for human rights, especially the minorities proving, that people with power can use their voice to help others with fewer opportunities or voices.





#### **Elizabeth Theophille (1970-)**

Elizabeth has been an independent director of 8x8 Inc. since 2019 and is considered one of the most successful women in technology today. She is a global information technology professional with a track record of using IT to transform and simplify business strategy and processes. Her expertise includes building data and advanced analytics platforms, AI and robotics process automation at enterprise scale and cyber security.



#### **Beate Hofer**



Beate Hofer is a German programmer and businesswoman, best known for her work in the car industry, another field mostly dominated by men. In 2020 she became the Group CIO at Volkswagen AG. Even before taking over, she had various high-level positions in the company, including e-business infrastructure, head of IT procurement and planning.

#### Emily Eavis (1979-)

Emily Eavis, born in London, has always been interested in the music industry. Her dreams were put on hold by her mother's illness, which made her give up on her education and return home. After that, she joined her father in running a festival and became the co-organiser of the Glastonbury Festival. Since then, she has been responsible for booking some of the biggest names in the festival's lineup, from Jay-Z to The Rolling Stones, Adele, Bruce Springsteen, Beyoncé, Stevie Wonder, Dolly Parton and so on. She also organised several fundraising concerts, the most well-known being Make Trade Fair in 2002.





## EmpowHERment through Entrepreneurship

The World Bank, the OECD, the European Commission, and other organizations recognize that women's entrepreneurship has positive economic effects. They view women's entrepreneurship as an underutilized source of societal progress, job creation, and economic expansion. According to statistics, women are underrepresented in entrepreneurship in a number of ways. For instance, while women make up 51% of the population in Europe, they only make up 32% of the self-employed and 31% of new business owners. All male start-ups received 93% of the capital invested in European businesses in 2019. There is evidence that female entrepreneurs around the world are not receiving enough funding. Women typically start smaller businesses and make less money as well.

The number of female CEOs in the Standard and Poor's top 500 companies is on the rise; however, that rise is not fast enough. When looking at the Information Technology sector, only five women were identified as CEOs: Safra Catz – Oracle Corporation, Christine Leahy – CDW Corporation, Lisa Su – Advanced Micro Devices, Julie Sweet – Accenture and Jayshree Ullal – Arista Networks. This shows that women are as capable leaders as their male counterpart; however, they are still underrepresented in the leadership field. For this reason, it is of utmost importance to motivate women to assume the leadership roles and charge the way. The same applies to adult learners and their motivation.

Entrepreneurship empowers women to tackle social issues, utilize collective growth opportunities, and voice concerns for problem-solving, providing a platform for collective growth and enabling them to effectively contribute to society. Women entrepreneurs are generally socially committed, regardless of their business type in developed or developing economies. A recent study found that 53% of European women entrepreneurs have undertaken projects with positive social impacts, addressing social issues and community challenges. Many women face social exclusion in their communities, which can inspire them to launch socially responsible enterprises, solve problems and gain a place in societal decision-making processes.

Women are gaining a competitive edge in businesses by incorporating cause marketing and connecting socio-political issues with their products or services. This strategy boosts customer awareness, drives sales, and lowers marketing costs. Global Women's





9

Entrepreneurship Research indicates that women are 1,17 times more likely to create social ventures than economic ones and 1,23 times more likely to pursue environmental ventures.

# Fostering Women's Entrepreneurship

To encourage women to pursue a business career, it is essential to make them aware of their full capabilities and realize their potential. This will help them gain the skills and knowledge required for a successful business career. Creating an environment of belonging can help develop their talents and guide them towards leadership roles. Nearly 60% of startups offer programs to increase the number of women in leadership positions, which is a positive step in the right direction. Addressing gender bias and providing diversity training in the workplace can help reduce bias against women and allow them to reach their true potential.

Mentorship programs and networking opportunities are critical for the success of any business, but challenges faced by women entrepreneurs can prevent them from accessing them. The current generation of women entrepreneurs can take on the roles of mentors to provide guidance and advice for a new generation of women entrepreneurs. Networking programs help women build connections necessary for the growth and success of their companies. Accelerator programs and incubators that focus on women who lack these opportunities are examples of mentorship and networking programs that can be beneficial for women entrepreneurs.

Erasmus+ programme within the Key Action 2 supports many projects that empower women in their entrepreneurial learnings and endeavours, consequently producing materials that can be freely and openly accessed, used and adapted. Some examples of such projects include **Women EntREpreneurs IN action!** and **Interactive and mentorship based FEMale emPOWERment in the field of entrepreneurship**. We invite you to research the **Erasmus+ project results platform** to find more such project and more educational materials.

Increasing visibility and recognition of successful women entrepreneurs can encourage more women to take up entrepreneurial roles. Media coverage and exclusive social media campaigns that highlight their achievements can be highly encouraging to a new







generation of women entrepreneurs. Easier access to education programs as adults can also help women continue their education and learn, providing them with the knowledge necessary for starting their own businesses.

In the document "A guide for fostering women's entrepreneurship", which is the final output of the project "Peer-Learning Activities in Entrepreneurship Education and in Women's Entrepreneurship" (2018-2021) we can find recommendations with five themes that decisionmakers can target. The target groups of this guide are decisionmakers in governments, educational institutions, civil society organisations, businesses, and their associations – on the local, regional, national and European levels. These recommendations are interlinked and reinforce each other mutually. The five actions addressed for women's entrepreneurship in the guide:

- Ensure entrepreneurial learning especially for women.
- Improve access to finance for women entrepreneurs.
- Enhance acknowledgement and awareness about women entrepreneurs.
- Build a pan-European organisation and improve the network for women's entrepreneurship.
- Support data collection and analysis about women's entrepreneurship.

The actions are primarily aimed at decision-makers, but also include and provide support to a wide range of organisations that can have a significant impact on change in the field of women entrepreneurship. Through mentorship and internship programs, or the European programme Erasmus for young entrepreneurs, educational institutions can help learners have the opportunity to participate in an entrepreneurial experience. The interaction of learners with entrepreneurs and real-world learning experiences can be facilitated through partnerships with commercial or social enterprises. Hackathons in particular can improve digital entrepreneurship skills. By collaborating with incubators, services that respond to the needs of young women with business ideas could be provided.

# Information Communication Technologies: A Means to EmpowHERment

Historically, men have been the majority of new technology users, but women have become dominant users of some social media sites. Around 58% of Facebook users and 62% of X (former Twitter) users are women, with 40 million more engaging on X monthly. Social media can support women's empowerment by encouraging self-







expression and improving psychological well-being. It can also help women improve their incomes, gain awareness of their rights, improve their families' well-being, advance their children's education, and improve their status in their homes and communities. This emerging evidence suggests that modern technology can play a significant role in women's empowerment.

X (former Twitter) has become one of the most used and most influential social media of today. As of 2023, its CEO has been Linda Yaccarino, a longtime advertising executive. Yaccarino has joined other female CEOs like Michele Buck (Hershey Company) and Christine Leahy (CDW Corporation) as the first female CEOs of their respective companies, hopefully paving the ways for other women to follow in similar leadership positions.

Modern ICT (Information and Communication Technology) is opening doors for female entrepreneurs in developing countries by making the digital world more dynamic and accessible. The ensuing online communities offer a sizable network of clients and suppliers because of increased peer-to-peer contact and more obvious individual participation. In addition, a variety of online forums and communication channels offer crucial training opportunities and ongoing support for business development. ICT interventions aim to economically empower women by utilizing technologies as knowledge and networking tools, connecting them to new markets, broadening their social networks, and providing essential information. ICT can provide new opportunities for women's economic empowerment by:

- Creating business and employment opportunities for women as owners and managers of ICT-accessed projects, as well as employees of new business ventures;
- Creating an environment, including through training, where women feel comfortable participating in community development activities and advocating for their needs and priorities;
- Developing ICT-based tools that address women's specific needs and are run by women (for example, literacy programmes, business planning courses, ICT training, access to market and trading information services and e-commerce initiatives);
- Offering economic opportunities in salaried employment and entrepreneurship, as well as in the ICT sector itself and in jobs enabled by ICT.





# Women in the ICT Sector

The Information and Communication Technology (ICT) sector, which generates 120.000 new jobs annually and accounts for 4.2% of the EU's GDP, is facing a shortage of 900.000 skilled ICT workers by 2020. The under-representation of women in science and technology, including digital technology, is a significant issue. Only 19% of European ICT entrepreneurs are women, and this gap is likely to continue, as only half as many women as men graduate in the science, technology, engineering and mathematics (STEM) field in the EU, with these shares varying widely in member states. Despite increasing awareness of digital specialisation, many girls and women are not pursuing STEM subjects due to gender bias and lack of role models in the digital technology sector, despite successful women entrepreneurs and promising start-ups in the ICT sector. This highlights the need for increased representation and representation for women in the digital sector.

Numerous aspects of this industry can discourage women from participating or remaining there and may partially account for the lower presence of women in it. Some of these aspects are:

- Negative perceptions of people who work in the sector the nerdy young male of popular and media stereotypes;
- A lack of visible female role models in the industry;
- An expectation of long working hours and a lack of flexibility;
- A male-dominated workplace, that is both intimidating and potentially leads to gendered working cultures and practices;
- Lack of digital confidence on the part of women;
- A feeling among female employees in the sector of not belonging;
- In some cases, direct instances of discrimination, or negative assumptions about their competencies on the part of employers and clients.

Therefore, the following is likely to be the way to address this imbalance:

- Getting girls engaged in computing and increasing uptake at the school level;
- Increasing awareness of opportunities in the sector among secondary pupils, in partnership with industry;
- Supporting female learners in further and higher education, offering mentoring and networking opportunities promoting opportunities in the industry to them;
- Making employers and those working in the sector more aware of the benefits of diversity and family-friendly working practices, and encouraging employees and employers in the sector to challenge unconscious bias;
- Setting up and implementing work-life balance policies in ICT companies.





# **Teaching Aid Resources**

This teaching aid is a practical tool designed to complement the chapter on "Women in Tech & Entrepreneurship". It contains a variety of tasks aimed at engaging learners in interactive exercises, real-life scenarios, and reflective discussions. These tasks are crafted to encourage practical application of digital skills, deepen understanding of women's roles in tech, and foster critical thinking about gender dynamics in the industry. Educators can use these tasks to stimulate lively classroom discussions, group activities, and individual reflections. The exercises are adaptable to various teaching styles and learning environments, making them a versatile resource for educators aiming to inspire and empower learners in understanding and contributing to the field of tech and entrepreneurship for women.

## **Reflection Questions**

- Discuss the impact of having more women in tech leadership positions. How might this change the industry?
- Reflect on barriers women entrepreneurs face in tech. How can these be overcome?
- What unique perspectives do women bring to technology and entrepreneurship?
- How can organizations create more inclusive environments for women in tech?
- Reflect on the impact of mentorship and role models in shaping the careers of women in tech.
- Discuss the importance of networking for women entrepreneurs in the tech industry.
- How do societal expectations influence women's choices in pursuing careers in tech and entrepreneurship?

#### Interactive Exercise: Digital Skill Workshop

**Description**: Organize a workshop where learners can practice a specific digital skill (e.g., digital marketing). Invite a female tech expert to lead the workshop, providing practical insights and mentorship.

#### **Real-life Scenario: Tech Industry Analysis**





**Description**: Assign learners to analyse a tech company's approach to gender diversity and inclusion. They should research the company's policies, culture, and initiatives promoting women in tech.

# Further Reading

- Babbar, J. 2022. Women Empowerment. Research Journal of English, Vol-7, Issue-1, p. 118-121. Accessible on: https://www.rjoe.org.in/Files/v7i1/24.RJOE-Jyoti(118-121).pdf
- Birch, K. 2022. Top 10 women in technology in Europe. Business Chief. Accessible on: https://businesschief.eu/leadership-andstrategy/top-10-women-in-technology-ineurope
- Bouchrika, I. 2023. 31 Female CEOs of the S&P 500 by Industry in 2023. Research.com. Accessible on: https://research.com/careers/female-ceos-of-the-sp-500
- Business Chief: Top 10 women in technology in Europe. Accessible on: https://businesschief.eu/leadership-and-strategy/top-10-women-in-technology-ineurope
- Deloitte: Women in business in Central Europe. Faster, higher, stronger? Accessible on: https://www2.deloitte.com/content/dam/Deloitte/si/Documents/aboutdeloitte/si\_shexo\_women-in-business-in-ce.pdf
- European Commission, Executive Agency for Small and Medium-sized Enterprises, Hostak, J., Rancakova, D., Lilischkis, S. 2021. A guide for fostering women's entrepreneurship – Five key actions towards a digital, green and resilient Europe. Accessible on: https://data.europa.eu/doi/10.2826/738171
- European Institute for Gender Equality: Work-life balance in the ICT sector. Accessible on: https://eige.europa.eu/publicationsresources/toolkits-guides/work-lifebalance/women-in-ict?language\_content\_entity=en
- Faheem, H. 2016. Women and ICT Frontier Initiative Core Content. Accessible on: https://www.unapcict.org/sites/default/files/inline-files/Module\_C2.pdf
- Graham, H., Fuertes, V., Egdell, V. & Raeside, R. 2016. Women in ICT and Digital Technologies. An investigation of the barriers to women entering, staying, and progressing in the sector, and actions to ameliorate this. Accessible on: https://napierrepository.worktribe.com/preview/408037/Women%20in%20ICT%20an d%20Digital%20Technologies%20-%20Executive%20Summary%20251016.pdf
- Haya, J., Beninger, S., Mostafa, R. & Crittenden, V. 2014. Empowering Women Entrepreneurs in Emerging Economies: A Conceptual Model. Accessible on: https://www.researchgate.net/publication/336243261\_Empowering\_Women\_Entrep reneurs\_in\_Emerging\_Economies\_a\_Conceptual\_Model
- High-Pippert, A. & Comer, J. 1998. Female Empowerment: The Influence of Women Representing Women. Faculty Publications: Political Science. 2, p. 52-66. Accessible on: https://digitalcommons.unl.edu/cgi/viewcontent.cgi?article=1001&context=poliscifac pub
- Singh, S. 2023. How Do We Empower the Next Generation of Women Entrepreneurs? Accessible on: https://www.linkedin.com/pulse/how-do-we-empower-next-generationwomen-entrepreneurs-somdutta-singh





 The Financial Technology Report. 2023. The Top 25 Women Leaders in Financial Technology of Europe for 2023. Accessible on: https://thefinancialtechnologyreport.com/the-top-25women-leaders-in-financial-technology-of-europe-for-2023/





# Non-formal Educational Tools and Methodologies

Based on their experience working within the realm of non-formal education in order to create awareness and knowledge of EU opportunities and programmes, Asociación Building Bridges outlines non-formal methodologies and tools, their elements and how they relate to non-formal methodologies.

Funded by the European Union. Views and opinions expressed are however those of the author(s) only and do not necessarily reflect those of the European Union or Agency for Mobility and EU Programmes (AMPEU). Neither the European Union nor the granting authority can be held responsible for them.

Focusing on non-formal education, this chapter connects with the innovative teaching approaches of the EmpowHERment LAB project. It provides educators with insights into diverse learning methodologies, emphasizing their applicability in boosting digital competencies among adult learners, particularly women.

# Exploring Non-Formal Tools and Methodologies

In the realm of education, traditional classroom settings have long been the cornerstone of knowledge transfer. However, as we traverse the evolving landscape of teaching and learning, it becomes increasingly evident that education is not confined to the four walls of a classroom, nor is it limited to the conventional methodologies we have grown accustomed to.





The primary difference between a tool and a methodology is its scope and purpose. A tool is a specific resource or instrument used within the educational process to achieve specific tasks or objectives, while a methodology is a broader approach or framework that guides the overall design and implementation of educational practices. Tools serve as components within a methodology, helping educators and learners implement the chosen educational approach effectively. Throughout this manual, we will be positioning the information in both of these contexts.

Non-formal tools and methodologies have emerged as dynamic, flexible, and innovative approaches to education. They are instrumental in engaging learners beyond the confines of formal, structured lessons. This introduction aims to shed light on the fundamental concepts of non-formal education and the diverse tools and methodologies that breathe life into it.

It is also worth mentioning that non-formal education settings, in general, serve the purpose of being more inclusive by offering alternative learning methods which go beyond simple diversification, but go deeper to being active tools in engaging persons who have somehow not benefited from the traditional setting and methodologies of formal education.

# Non-Formal Education: A Paradigm Shift

Non-formal education is a transformative shift from traditional classroom-based learning. It recognizes that education is not limited to formal institutions but can occur throughout life, in various contexts, and through various means. It embraces the idea that learning can be self-directed, community-based, and experiential.

#### **Key Characteristics of Non-Formal Education:**

- **Flexibility**: Non-formal education adapts to the needs and interests of learners, accommodating diverse learning styles and paces.
- **Inclusivity**: It reaches out to learners who may not fit the traditional educational contexts, including adults, marginalized communities, and those in remote areas.
- **Practical application**: Non-formal education emphasizes real-world applications, fostering skills that are immediately useful.
- Lifelong learning: It promotes continuous learning, acknowledging that education is a lifelong journey.





# Non-Formal Tools and Methodologies: Unleashing Creativity

Non-formal education is not bound by textbooks and standardized curricula. It thrives on creativity, interactivity, and adaptability. Non-formal tools and methodologies encompass a wide spectrum of approaches that engage learners in ways that are both enjoyable and effective.

It is exactly this creative element which we want to exploit within this section, and which we have within the framework of the EmpowHERment LAB project. This creative element, itself a cornerstone of non-formal as a concept, allows for teachers, trainers, mentors, etc. to gauge the limits (or lack thereof) of their learners, in order to determine the framing, order and general learning roadmap which best suits them, in order to ensure the transfer of knowledge is a successful one.

As we delve deeper into non-formal tools and methodologies, we invite educators, trainers, and mentors to embrace these innovative approaches. Through this manual, we aim to empower you with the knowledge and resources to ignite curiosity, inspire creativity, and drive transformative learning experiences. Together, we embark on a journey where education knows no bounds, and the tools for empowerment are limitless.

# Examples of Non-Formal Tools and Methodologies

In an effort to fully paint a picture of what (could) constitute non-formal tools and methodologies, we find it useful to provide an at-a-glance look at some of the contemporary elements as examples of non-formal tools and methodologies:

- Games and simulations: Gamified learning experiences make education enjoyable and foster critical thinking and problem-solving skills.
- **Experiential learning**: Hands-on activities and projects allow learners to explore, experiment, and learn through direct experiences.
- Peer learning: Collaborative learning environments promote knowledge sharing and mutual support among learners.
- Mentoring and coaching: Guided mentorship offers personalized guidance, unlocking individual potential.







 Online Resources: Digital platforms provide accessible and interactive learning opportunities for a global audience.

## Games and Simulations in Non-Formal Education

Games and simulations are highly effective tools in non-formal education settings because they engage learners in interactive and experiential experiences. In this way, they serve the purpose of non-formal education in many ways.

They are able to encompass the element of active learning, as games and simulations encourage active learning, where learners are actively involved in problem-solving, decision-making, and critical thinking. This hands-on approach promotes deeper understanding and retention of concepts. Through their novel way of engaging the learners, they actively contribute to experiential learning. Non-formal education often emphasizes experiential learning, and games / simulations are a prime example of this. Learners learn by doing, experimenting, and experiencing real-world scenarios within a controlled environment. They serve as a tool for engagement and motivation, as games and simulations are inherently engaging and motivate learners. They create a competitive or cooperative atmosphere that encourages participation and fosters a sense of achievement. They offer the opportunity of practical application in real-time. Learners can apply what they learn in games and simulations to real-life situations. This practical application makes the learning experience relevant and valuable.

These tools also help foster problem-solving skills, as many games and simulations involve complex challenges and problem-solving scenarios. Learners develop problem-solving skills, analytical thinking, and decision-making abilities. By offering risk-free environments, simulations provide a risk-free space for learners to make mistakes and learn from them. This promotes a growth mindset and reduces the fear of failure. They provide interactivity, as games and simulations often require collaboration, communication, and teamwork. Learners interact with peers, share ideas, and work together to achieve common goals.

## Common Elements Within Games and Simulations for Non-Formal Methodology

Several common elements characterize games and simulations when applied within nonformal education methodologies:





- **Objectives:** Like any educational activity, games and simulations have specific learning objectives. These objectives guide the design and implementation of the game or simulation, ensuring that learners gain targeted knowledge and skills.
- **Rules**: Games and simulations have defined rules and structures that create challenges and constraints. These rules set the boundaries for the experience and add an element of competition or cooperation.
- **Feedback**: Immediate and constructive feedback is a crucial element. Learners receive feedback on their actions, decisions, and performance within the game or simulation, helping them understand the consequences of their choices.
- Reflection: After the game or simulation, learners often engage in reflection activities. They discuss what they learned, how they approached challenges, and how they can apply their experiences to real-life situations.
- Scenarios: Games and simulations present learners with scenarios or scenarios that mimic real-life situations. These scenarios may vary in complexity, allowing learners to explore different aspects of a topic.
- Progression: Many games and simulations include a progression system where learners advance through levels or stages. This provides a sense of achievement and encourages continued engagement.
- Variety: Games and simulations come in various forms, from board games and card games to computer-based simulations and role-playing exercises. This variety allows educators to choose the most suitable format for their objectives.

Some examples of popular digital applications and tools that fit those criteria are presented in the following table:

EdApp	This is a game-based learning platform that integrates different engagement elements to help increase course completion rates while ensuring an effective learning experience. It provides a built-in authoring tool that includes interactive templates like image / word match, letter jumble, true or false, and many more.
Kahoot	An online quiz maker and game-based learning platform that encourages active learning and engagement.
Innov8	This simulation game from IBM provides players a chance to sharpen their business acumen with three different scenarios focusing on smarter traffic, smarter customer service, and smarter supply chains.
Thinking Worlds	This software offers a range of educational games that touch on a variety of topics from literature to social awareness.

#### Application / tool Description





EVE Online	This software allows users to practice running a powerful company, thereby sharpening their management skills.
Duolingo	A popular gamified language-learning app that combines gamification elements, including points, levels, and rewards, to make learning a new language an engaging and enjoyable experience.
Virtual Principal	An educational game designed to help learners build their knowledge and skills while they explore the virtual world of school.

In non-formal education, games and simulations offer a dynamic and engaging way to achieve educational goals while promoting active learning, problem-solving skills, and practical application of knowledge. They align with the principles of non-formal methodology by emphasizing experiential and learner-centred approaches.

# Experiential Learning in Non-Formal Education

Experiential learning is a powerful approach within non-formal education that emphasizes learning through direct experience and reflection. Here is how it serves the purpose of nonformal education:

- Active engagement: Experiential learning requires active engagement from learners. They directly participate in activities, experiments, or real-world experiences rather than passively receiving information. This hands-on approach fosters deep understanding.
- **Reflection**: Central to experiential learning is the process of reflection. After engaging in an experience, learners reflect on what they learned, the challenges they faced, and how they can apply their insights to future situations.
- Problem solving: Experiential learning often involves problem-solving scenarios or challenges. Learners must apply critical thinking and creative problem-solving skills to overcome obstacles.
- Transferable skills: The skills and knowledge gained through experiential learning are often transferable to real-life situations. Learners develop practical skills and a deeper understanding of concepts, which they can apply in various contexts.





- **Emotional connection**: Experiential learning often elicits emotions and personal connections to the material. Learners become emotionally invested in the learning process, making it more memorable and meaningful.
- **Independence**: Learners are encouraged to take ownership of their learning. They set goals, make decisions, and explore topics independently, which promotes self-directed learning.

## Common Elements within Experiential Learning for Non-Formal Methodology

Several common elements are associated with experiential learning when applied within nonformal education methodologies:

- Structured activities: Experiential learning activities are carefully designed and structured to achieve specific learning objectives. They provide a framework for learners to explore, experiment, and reflect.
- Hands-on experience: Learners engage in real-world experiences, experiments, or activities that align with the learning objectives. These experiences are tangible and relevant to the topic.
- Reflection process: After the experiential activity, learners engage in a reflection process. This may involve group discussions, journaling, or guided questions that encourage critical thinking and self-awareness.
- **Feedback**: Facilitators or peers often provide feedback to learners. This feedback highlights what went well, what could be improved, and how the experience relates to the learning objectives.
- Application to real life: Experiential learning emphasizes the practical application of knowledge and skills to real-life situations. Learners connect their experiences to everyday scenarios.
- Variety of activities: Experiential learning can take various forms, including field trips, simulations, role-playing, outdoor adventures, and hands-on experiments. The diversity of activities caters to different learning styles and preferences.
- Challenges and problem solving: Experiential activities often present challenges or problems for learners to solve. This encourages critical thinking, adaptability, and the development of problem-solving skills.
- Collaboration: Many experiential activities promote collaboration and teamwork. Learners work together to achieve common goals, fostering communication and interpersonal skills.

Below you can find some types of experiential learning that may occur in adult education settings:







Activity	Description
Internships	Placing adult learners in real-world professional environments related to their field of study allows them to apply theoretical concepts in practical settings and develop hard and soft skills.
Simulations	Adult learning courses may incorporate realistic simulations that immerse learners in lifelike scenarios to practice decision making, communication, teamwork and other interpersonal competencies. Common simulations cover business negotiations, engineering projects, etc.
Site visits	Organizing site visits for adult learners is a dynamic way for them to see textbook material come to life. For example, future accountants could tour a trading floor, future teachers could observe experienced educators at work, etc.
Service learning	This involves integrating community service activities into course curriculum, allowing adult learners to address real community needs and reflect on their experiences to deepen comprehension of course content.
Group projects	Collaborative group projects present opportunities for peer-to- peer teaching and let adult learners exercise their resourcefulness and critical thinking skills in applying course material to a practical deliverable.
Role playing	Adult learning courses may incorporate role play scenarios to encourage learners to consider perspectives other than their own and practice handling real-life interpersonal interactions. Common examples include attorney-client mock consultations, doctor-patient dialogues, and customer service exchanges.

Experiential learning aligns closely with non-formal education principles by offering a dynamic and participatory approach to learning. It emphasizes active engagement, reflection, and practical application, making it well-suited for diverse educational settings and learner-centred methodologies.





# Peer Learning in Non-Formal Education

Peer learning is a dynamic educational approach where individuals learn from and with their peers who are usually at similar levels of knowledge or experience. This method has proven highly effective within non-formal education settings for several reasons.

Firstly, peer learning enhances relatability. Learners often share similar backgrounds, experiences, or challenges, making the learning content more relatable. This connection on a personal level enhances engagement and participation. Moreover, peer learning fosters social interaction and collaboration. Learners do not just learn from instructors; they learn from each other, promoting communication, teamwork, and the exchange of ideas. Diversity is another key element. Peer groups often bring together individuals with diverse perspectives and insights. This diversity enriches discussions and encourages critical thinking by exposing learners to different viewpoints.

Peer learning also plays a significant role in confidence building. Learners may feel more comfortable asking questions or seeking clarification from their peers, boosting their confidence and willingness to participate actively. Mutual support within peer groups is a defining feature. Learners can share their challenges and successes, creating a supportive learning environment that encourages risk-taking and exploration.

Additionally, peer learning encourages active participation. Learners often take on roles such as facilitators, presenters, or mentors, actively contributing to the learning process. Lastly, peer learning is about ownership of learning. Learners typically have a say in the direction of their learning. They can collectively decide on topics, goals, or projects, giving them a sense of ownership of their educational journey.

## Common Elements within Peer Learning for Non-Formal Methodology

Several common elements are associated with peer learning when applied within nonformal education methodologies:

- **Peer groups**: Learners are organized into peer groups, which may be small teams or larger communities. These groups create a supportive learning environment.
- Facilitators or mentors: While peers learn from each other, facilitators or mentors may provide guidance and structure. They ensure that the learning process remains focused and productive.







- Collaborative activities: Peer learning often involves collaborative activities, such as group discussions, problem-solving tasks, or joint projects. These activities encourage interaction and shared learning.
- Group dynamics: Facilitators pay attention to group dynamics to ensure that all learners have a voice and feel included. They may use icebreakers or teambuilding exercises to enhance cohesion.
- Feedback and reflection: Peer learning encourages learners to provide feedback to one another. Feedback and reflection sessions help learners refine their understanding and skills.
- Shared responsibility: Learners share responsibility for their learning. They set goals, monitor progress, and support each other's growth.
- **Peer assessment**: In some cases, peer assessment may be used, where learners evaluate each other's work or contributions. This promotes accountability and fairness.
- Varied roles: Learners may take on different roles within their peer groups, such as leader, facilitator, or note-taker. This promotes a sense of ownership and active engagement.
- **Flexible learning**: Peer learning is often flexible and adaptable to learners' needs and interests. It can accommodate diverse learning styles and preferences.
- **Empowerment**: Peer learning empowers learners to become active learners and contributors. It emphasizes that learning is a collaborative effort.

Research show that informal learning modalities the professionals use today can be subsumed under the 70 : 20 : 10 rule, where 70% of learning is experiential, 20% is peer and self-directed learning and the remaining 10% formal learning.

Peer learning aligns well with non-formal education principles by emphasizing active participation, collaboration, and learner-centred approaches. It leverages the strengths of peer interaction and mutual support to create dynamic and engaging learning experiences.




### Mentoring and Coaching in Non-Formal Education

Mentoring and coaching are powerful methods within non-formal education that facilitate personalized learning and skill development. They serve various crucial purposes in this educational context.

Firstly, mentoring and coaching provide individualized guidance. Each learner receives one-on-one attention and support tailored to their unique needs, goals, and challenges. This personalized approach is especially effective for addressing specific learning gaps or skill deficiencies. These methods also foster a strong mentor-mentee or coach-coachee relationship. This bond creates a safe and trusting environment where learners feel comfortable seeking guidance, asking questions, and sharing concerns. It often leads to more open communication and a deeper understanding of the learner's needs. Furthermore, mentoring and coaching encourage self-directed learning. While mentors and coaches offer guidance, learners are encouraged to take ownership of their learning journey. They set goals, identify areas for improvement, and actively seek solutions, promoting independence and self-motivation.

Peer learning often plays a role within mentoring and coaching. Mentors and coaches can facilitate peer interactions, creating opportunities for knowledge exchange and collaborative problem-solving. This peer-to-peer learning enhances the overall educational experience. Mentoring and coaching are also adaptable to various learning contexts. They can be applied in both formal and non-formal settings, making them versatile approaches that can meet diverse educational needs. Lastly, these methods promote continuous improvement. Learners receive ongoing feedback and support, allowing them to make incremental progress over time. This focus on continuous learning aligns well with the principles of non-formal education.

#### Common Elements within Mentoring and Coaching for Non-Formal Methodology

Several common elements are associated with mentoring and coaching when applied within non-formal education methodologies.

 Individualized attention: Each learner receives personalized guidance, allowing them to focus on their unique goals and challenges.





- Strong mentor-mentee or coach-coachee relationship: Trust, open communication, and a supportive environment are cultivated within this relationship.
- Goal setting and action planning: Learners work with their mentors or coaches to set clear objectives and develop actionable plans to achieve them.
- Regular meetings or sessions: These interactions offer learners ongoing support, feedback, and opportunities for reflection, providing continuity.
- Feedback and assessment: Mentors and coaches provide constructive feedback, and learners are encouraged to reflect on their progress and areas for improvement. These processes are ongoing.
- **Empowerment**: A common theme, mentoring and coaching aim to empower learners to take control of their learning journey and make informed decisions about their educational path.
- Learner-centred approaches: The focus is on the learner's needs, interests, and goals, ensuring that the educational experience is tailored to their preferences.
- **Collaboration**: In some cases, mentors or coaches facilitate peer interactions, allowing learners to share experiences and learn from one another.
- Flexibility: Mentoring and coaching can be adapted to various learning contexts, accommodating different learning styles and preferences.

Mentoring and coaching are highly effective methods within non-formal education, providing individualized support, fostering strong relationships, and promoting selfdirected learning. These methods empower learners to take charge of their educational journey, aligning well with the principles of non-formal education. They offer versatile approaches that can be customized to meet diverse educational needs while promoting continuous improvement and collaboration.

### Special Note on Online Tools

While online tools are an amazing way to engage learners, and with the current reach of technology, especially gaming technology, the possibilities are endless. Everything from gamification to the development of virtual reality open worlds for learners to immerse into is now within reach.

The online element is ever-present within this section, as an assumption that the resources (Internet, computers, etc) are readily available. However, within the context of the EmpowHERment LAB project, we have learned through the implementation that



such resources are not always available, and other, less technological (but not any less innovative) approaches need to be taken.

We encourage you to read further on this specific scenario, and the alternative to online tools as outlined in the chapter "Inclusive and Sustainable Education: Embracing Low-Tech and No-Tech Solutions".

#### **Common Elements within Online Tools**

Online tools and resources play a crucial role in serving the purpose of non-formal education. They offer a wide range of benefits that align with the principles of non-formal methodology.

- Accessibility and convenience: Online tools and resources make learning more accessible and convenient. Learners can access educational materials from anywhere with an Internet connection, removing geographical barriers.
- Self-paced learning: Non-formal education often emphasizes self-directed learning. Online resources provide learners with the flexibility to set their own pace and explore topics of interest.
- Diverse content: Online platforms offer a wealth of content in various formats, including text, videos, interactive simulations, and more. This diversity caters to different learning preferences.
- Interactivity: Many online tools and resources are designed to be interactive. Learners can engage in quizzes, discussions, and simulations, promoting active participation.
- Customization: Learners can often personalize their learning experiences online. They can choose specific modules or resources that align with their goals and interests.
- Feedback mechanisms: Online platforms frequently incorporate feedback mechanisms, such as quizzes with instant scoring or peer review systems. These features support ongoing assessment and improvement.
- Community and collaboration: Online forums and discussion boards foster a sense of community and collaboration among learners. They can exchange ideas, seek help, and learn from peers.
- Progress tracking: Learners can monitor their progress easily through online platforms. This transparency allows them to set goals and track their achievements.
- Resource sharing: Online tools enable educators and learners to share valuable resources quickly. This sharing culture enhances the availability of learning materials.





- Cost-effectiveness: Non-formal education often aims to be cost-effective. Online resources can reduce expenses associated with traditional learning materials and travel.
- Continuous learning: Online tools support lifelong learning. Learners can access new content and updates regularly, promoting continuous skill development.

When incorporating online tools in teaching and learning activities, a special attention needs to be given how they are going to be used and for what purpose. Depending on the target learners, a specific online tool may be more or less successful in comparison to other target learners. More on diverse learners read in the following chapters.

Online tools and resources align with non-formal education by providing accessible, flexible, and interactive learning experiences. They empower learners to take control of their education, collaborate with peers, and adapt their learning journey to their individual needs and preferences.

### Practical Examples of Non-Formal Methodologies

The following are practical examples that integrate different methodologies and tools into the teaching of digital marketing specifically, as they were devised under the framework of the EmpowHERment LAB project, and are constructed aiming at offering learners a diverse and engaging learning experience

#### **Games and Simulations**

**Digital marketing simulation game**: Create a digital marketing simulation game where learners take on roles as marketing managers for a fictional company. They must make decisions about digital advertising, social media campaigns, and content marketing. The game simulates real-world scenarios and challenges, allowing learners to apply digital marketing concepts in a risk-free environment.

**SEO scavenger hunt**: Organize an SEO scavenger hunt where learners work in teams to optimize a website for search engines. Each team is given a website with various SEO issues, and they must identify and fix these issues using digital





marketing tools and strategies. The team that achieves the best SEO results wins the competition.

#### **Experiential Learning**

**Digital marketing campaign project**: Assign learners a real-world digital marketing campaign project. They must plan, execute, and analyse a digital marketing campaign for a local business or nonprofit organization. This hands-on experience allows them to apply their knowledge of digital marketing tools and strategies in a practical context.

**A/B testing workshop**: Conduct an A/B testing workshop where learners create and run A/B tests for different elements of a website or email marketing campaign. They learn how to collect and analyse data to make data-driven decisions for optimizing digital marketing efforts.

#### **Peer Learning**

**Peer feedback and analysis**: Divide learners into small groups, and assign each group a digital marketing case study or project. Within their groups, they must provide constructive feedback and analysis of each other's work. This encourages peer learning and allows learners to gain different perspectives on digital marketing strategies.

**Digital marketing mastermind groups**: Form digital marketing mastermind groups consisting of learners with varying levels of expertise. These groups meet regularly to discuss challenges, share insights, and brainstorm digital marketing ideas. Peer support and collaboration enhance the learning experience.

#### **Mentoring and Coaching**

**Digital marketing mentorship program**: Pair experienced digital marketing professionals, learners or trainers, with learners as mentors. Mentors provide one-on-one guidance, career advice, and coaching. Learners can seek advice on specific digital marketing projects or career development within the field.

**Coaching clinics**: Organize coaching clinics where learners can sign up for short coaching sessions with experts in specific areas of digital marketing, such as social media advertising, email marketing, or content creation. These sessions provide personalized guidance and address learners' individual needs.

#### **Online Resources**





**Digital marketing webinars**: Host a series of webinars featuring digital marketing experts. These webinars cover various digital marketing topics, tools, and strategies. Learners can access these online resources to expand their knowledge and stay updated on industry trends.

**Digital marketing resource library**: Create an online resource library that includes e-books, articles, video tutorials, and case studies related to digital marketing. Learners can explore these resources at their own pace to deepen their understanding of digital marketing concepts.

### **Teaching Aid Resources**

This teaching aid is specifically designed to deepen understanding and practical application of non-formal educational methodologies. It contains a series of reflection questions, interactive exercises, and real-life scenario tasks, each aimed at exploring different facets of non-formal education. Educators can utilize this worksheet to engage learners in critical thinking about traditional vs. non-formal education, adaptability in teaching, and the importance of cultural sensitivity. The tasks are crafted to encourage practical implementation of these methodologies in diverse learning environments. This resource serves as a versatile tool for educators to facilitate active learning, foster creativity, and address contemporary educational challenges through non-formal educational approaches.

#### **Reflection Question**

- How do non-formal educational tools differ from traditional educational methods?
- Reflect on a non-formal educational experience you have had. What was
  effective or ineffective about it?
- How can non-formal methodologies be adapted to different learning environments and learner needs?
- In what ways can non-formal educational tools be particularly effective for adult learners or those with diverse educational backgrounds?
- Discuss the role of cultural sensitivity in non-formal educational methodologies. How does it impact the learning experience?
- How can non-formal education be used to address social issues or community challenges?





- Reflect on the importance of adaptability in non-formal education. How can educators modify their approaches based on learner feedback and evolving needs?
- What are some challenges you foresee in implementing non-formal educational tools, and how might these be addressed?

#### Interactive Exercise: Role Play

**Description**: Facilitate role-play scenarios where learners take on different roles within a non-formal educational setting. This could include roles such as facilitator, learner, and observer. The goal is to practice and reflect on different teaching methodologies.

#### **Real-life Scenario: Methodology Implementation**

**Description**: Challenge learners to design and implement a short educational session using non-formal methodologies. They should document their planning process, execution, and feedback received.

#### Group Activity: Non-Formal Education Workshop Design

**Description**: Divide the learners into small groups and assign each group the task of designing a short workshop or educational session using non-formal educational methodologies. Encourage them to focus on a specific topic or skill (e.g. digital literacy; basic digital skills). Each group should present their workshop plan, outlining the objectives, activities, methodologies, and expected outcomes. The class can then discuss the strengths and potential improvements for each workshop design, fostering collaborative learning and critical analysis of non-formal education approaches.

### Further Reading

- Boeren, E., 2011. Gender differences in formal, non-formal and informal adult learning. Studies in Continuing Education, 33(3), pp.333-346.
- Boyadjieva, P. and Ilieva-Trichkova, P., 2023. Adult education as a pathway to empowerment: Challenges and possibilities. Lifelong Learning, Young Adults and the Challenges of Disadvantage in Europe, pp.169-191.







- Danish Adult Education Association. 2013. Non-formal adult education and motivation for lifelong learning: "We're searching for the stuff that works!"
- DROP-IN. 2018. DROP IN EDUC'ACTION: A catalogue on non-formal education methods. Available at: https://drop-in.eu/media/drop-in-io2-en.pdf.
- Gross, Z. and Rutland, S.D., 2017. Experiential learning in informal educational settings. International Review of Education, 63, pp.1-8.
- Kedrayate, A., 2012. Non-formal education: Is it relevant or obsolete? International Journal of Business, Humanities and Technology, 2(4), pp.11-15.
- Koutsoukos, M. and Sipitanou, A., 2020. Applying mentoring in adult education: benefits for mentees, mentors and educational organizations. In *ICERI2020 Proceedings* (pp. 7798-7810). IATED.
- Samodumska, O., Zarishniak, I., Tarasenko, H., Buchatska, S., Budas, I. and Tregubenko, I., 2022.
   Gamification in non-formal adult educational practices.
- Sydorenko, V., Shorobura, I., Ponomarenko, A., Dei, M. and Dzhus, O., 2020. Application of technologies of formal and non-formal education for continuous professional development of the modern specialist. *Revista Tempos e Espaços em Educação*, 13(32), p.103.
- Topping, K.J., 2013. Trends in peer learning. Developments in Educational Psychology, pp.53-68.
- Vasylenko, O.V., 2023. Non-formal adult education: concept, roots, social importance. Publishing House "Baltija Publishing".



## Supporting Diverse Learning Groups to Learn and Grow

Utilizing their extensive experience working with physically disadvantaged groups, Lava Legato gives their unique experience and answers some of the challenges faced while implementing EmpowHERment LAB with their target groups.

Funded by the European Union. Views and opinions expressed are however those of the author(s) only and do not necessarily reflect those of the European Union or Agency for Mobility and EU Programmes (AMPEU). Neither the European Union nor the granting authority can be held responsible for them.

By addressing the needs of diverse learners, this chapter aligns with the inclusive educational philosophy of the EmpowHERment LAB project. It offers educators strategies to engage and empower learners from various backgrounds, emphasizing the transformative power of tailored education.

In this chapter, we will focus on working with and supporting learners who face challenges. We will cover the following topics:

- Defining diverse learning target groups: Who are the potential target groups?
- What different types of learning difficulties can be identified?
- Identifying learning obstacles
- Specific challenges related to digital competencies
- Support networks for learners with diverse needs
- Strategies to overcome learning obstacles

Different approaches will be highlighted:

Differentiated Instruction







• The power of positivity

We will end the chapter by revisiting relevant theoretical concepts on learning that can be applied to your learners:

- Social cognitive theory
- Cognitive load theory
- Universal design for learning
- Self-regulated learning
- Growth mindset

### Defining Diverse Learning Groups: Who are the Potential Target Groups?

In the context of education and training, the term diverse learning groups refers to individuals who face difficulties in the learning process due to various factors. These learners require additional support, accommodations, and differentiated instruction to meet their unique needs.

Diverse learners can be identified based on the nature of their needs. Here are some key groups:

- Learners with learning disabilities: This group includes learners who have specific needs in one or more academic areas despite having average or aboveaverage intelligence. Learning disabilities may affect reading (dyslexia), writing (dysgraphia), mathematics (dyscalculia), or other cognitive processes.
- Learners contending with neurological disorders: notably attention-deficit
   / hyperactivity disorder (ADHD) and various conditions along the autism
   spectrum, grapple with an array of distinct needs. Among these diverse disorders,
   the manifestation of varying types of hurdles is evident, with learning difficulties
   emerging as a significant aspect.
- Second language learners: Second language learners are individuals who are in the process of acquiring proficiency in a language that is not their first or native language. This term typically applies to individuals who are learning a second language, whether it is for educational, social, professional, or personal reasons. Language barriers can impede their academic progress and understanding of instructional materials.





**Gifted and talented learners**: These learners demonstrate exceptional abilities and talents in specific areas, often surpassing their peers in intellectual, creative, or artistic endeavours. However, they can be identified as learners who may need differentiated instruction to prevent boredom and disengagement.

- Learners with emotional or behavioural disorders: This group comprises learners who struggle with emotional regulation, behaviour control, or mental health issues. These challenges may lead to disruptive behaviour, poor social skills, and difficulties in forming positive relationships with peers and teachers.
- Learners from socioeconomically disadvantaged backgrounds: Learners from low-income families may face various challenges, such as limited access to resources, unstable home environments, and insufficient academic support.
- Learners with physical disabilities: Learners with physical disabilities face challenges related to mobility, accessibility, and participation in the learning environment. Accommodations and assistive technology are often required to support their educational needs.
- Learners with intellectual disabilities: These learners have below-average intellectual functioning, leading to challenges in learning, problem-solving, and adaptive behaviour. They require individualised instruction and support.
- Learners with sensory impairments: Learners who are blind, visually impaired, deaf, or hard of hearing may face obstacles in accessing information presented through traditional teaching methods. Alternative formats and assistive technologies can aid their learning.
- Learners from culturally and linguistically diverse backgrounds: Culturally and linguistically diverse learners may face challenges in understanding and relating to the school's curriculum, particularly if it does not align with their cultural norms and experiences.

Identifying these groups of diverse learners allows educators to tailor instruction and support to meet individual needs effectively. Differentiation, early intervention, and inclusive teaching practices are essential to help these learners overcome their challenges and reach their full potential. Some learners may check boxes in various categories. However, merely identifying different types of challenges and needs is not an end in itself; the ultimate goal is to provide enhanced support throughout their learning journey.





37

### What Different Types of Learning Difficulties can be Identified?

Learning obstacles can be diverse and can arise from various factors that hinder a learner's ability to acquire and apply knowledge effectively. Clearly, the various target groups outlined in the previous section are related to the summarised learning difficulties below. However, to ensure clarity, we will now provide a summary of the range of learning obstacles that exist in the table below.

Learning obstacle	Description
Learning disabilities	Specific learning disabilities can affect reading, writing, math, and other academic skills. For example, dyslexia makes it challenging to decode words and comprehend text, while dyscalculia hampers mathematical reasoning.
Attention difficulties	Attention-deficit / hyperactivity disorder (ADHD) can lead to inattention, impulsivity, and hyperactivity, making it difficult for learners to stay focused on tasks and retain information.
Language barriers	For second language learners, the language of instruction may be a barrier to understanding academic content, which can affect their overall learning progress.
Working memory issues	Weak working memory can impact a learner's ability to retain and manipulate information in their mind while solving problems or following instructions.
Executive functioning deficits	Difficulties with executive functions, such as planning, organising, time management, and self-regulation, can hinder effective learning and task completion.
Emotional and behavioural challenges	Emotional and behavioural disorders can lead to disruptions in the classroom, difficulty concentrating, and limited engagement in the learning process.
Lack of motivation	Learners who lack motivation may show disinterest in learning, leading to decreased effort and engagement in academic tasks.
Physical disabilities	Physical disabilities can limit a learner's ability to participate fully in classroom activities, access learning materials, or interact with their peers.





Intellectual disabilities	Intellectual disabilities can result in limitations in intellectual functioning and adaptive behaviour, affecting the learner's overall learning potential.
Cultural and socioeconomic factors	Cultural differences and socioeconomic status can influence a learner's approach to learning, engagement in the classroom, and access to educational resources.
Sensory impairments	Vision or hearing impairments can create barriers to accessing information through traditional teaching methods.
Memory difficulties	Some learners may struggle with memory retention, making it challenging to recall information when needed.
Lack of prior knowledge	Insufficient background knowledge or pre-requisite skills can hinder a learner's ability to grasp new concepts.
Test anxiety	Test anxiety can impair performance, even for learners who have a good understanding of the subject matter.
Peer-related challenges	Social issues such as bullying, isolation, or a lack of peer support can negatively impact a learner's learning experience.
Curriculum mismatch	When the curriculum is not appropriately aligned with a learner's learning style, interests, or ability level, it can create learning obstacles.

Certain learning difficulties may be interconnected, potentially magnifying their overall impact. Identifying learning obstacles is crucial for educators and support professionals to design appropriate interventions and accommodations to address the specific needs of each learner effectively. By understanding and addressing these challenges, educators can create a more inclusive and supportive learning environment for all learners.

### Identifying Learning Obstacles

The process of identifying active learning obstacles in learners requires a comprehensive and multi-faceted approach that involves observation, assessment, communication, and collaboration. The importance of diverse strategies, along with their accessibility, varies according to the specific work context – be it an educational environment, a youth centre, or a community centre. Furthermore, the availability of resources to implement these strategies is unquestionably a pertinent aspect to consider. The list below primarily serves as inspiration to encourage the adoption of various approaches for viewing learners from different perspectives and utilising diverse tools to assess their strengths.







- Observations: Teachers, educators and family members can observe learners' behaviour, engagement, and interactions in the classroom and other learning environments. Look for signs of difficulties, such as inattentiveness, frustration, avoidance of certain tasks, or social challenges.
- Informal assessments: Utilise informal assessments, such as classwork, homework, quizzes, and class participation, to gauge a learner's progress and identify areas of struggle.
- Formal assessments: Conduct formal assessments, including standardised tests, academic screenings, and diagnostic evaluations, to gather more in-depth information about a learner's strengths and weaknesses in specific subjects or skill areas.
- Individual meetings: Regularly meet with learners one-on-one to discuss their learning experiences, challenges, and goals. Encourage them to express their concerns and feelings about their academic performance.
- Collaboration with colleagues: Engage in discussions with other teachers, educators, staff, or specialists who work with the learner. Sharing observations and insights can provide a more comprehensive understanding of the learner's challenges.
- Input from family members: Seek input from parents or guardians about the younger learner's learning experiences at home. They may provide valuable information about the learner's behaviour, learning preferences, and any challenges they have noticed. For adult learners, inquiry directly with the learner.
- Behaviour tracking: Use behaviour tracking systems or tools to monitor specific behaviours or patterns that may be hindering learning, such as attention issues or emotional regulation difficulties.
- Curriculum-based assessments: Evaluate how well a learner is keeping up with the curriculum. Identify areas where they might be falling behind or experiencing difficulty.
- Review of past records: Review the learner's past academic records and progress reports to identify any patterns of struggles or strengths.
- Response to intervention (RTI): Implement RTI strategies, which involve systematically monitoring a learner's progress and response to various interventions to identify effective supports.
- Psychological or educational assessments: In some cases, a comprehensive psychological or educational assessment conducted by specialists, such as psychologists or educational diagnosticians, can help pinpoint specific learning obstacles and provide recommendations for support.
- Technology-based assessments: Use educational technology tools or apps that can track learners' performance and learning progress to identify areas where they may need additional support.





It is essential to remember that identifying learning obstacles is an ongoing process. Some obstacles may be more apparent, while others may require a deeper understanding and investigation. Collaboration among teachers, educators, and relevant specialists is vital to developing effective strategies and accommodations that can address the identified obstacles and support the learner's learning journey.

### Specific Challenges Related to Digital Competencies

Specific learning objectives related to digital competencies can vary based on the age group, educational level, and context in which they are being taught. Digital competencies refer to the skills and knowledge required to effectively and responsibly use digital technologies for communication, collaboration, problem-solving, and information processing. The first learning module of the EmpowHERment LAB online Bootcamp introduces a comprehensive model that focuses on identifying pivotal digital competencies, driving the empowerment of individuals. Proficiency in these specific skills significantly influences or even determines a learner's level of digital literacy. The model elaborates on the following eight competencies: Reflect, Operate, Export, Find, Create, Connect, Discuss, and Understand, all based on the Dutch Media Literacy Competency Model 2021.

# Support Networks for Learners with Diverse Needs

Learners facing challenges can receive vital support from a range of individuals and professionals. Key figures include:

- educators and staff, who offer tailored instruction and collaborate with specialists,
- special education teachers who create personalised plans;
- psychologists who assess and counsel;
- counsellors aiding emotional and academic growth;
- speech-language pathologists addressing communication issues;
- social workers advocating for holistic assistance.







Support for learning can arrive from various directions. Depending on the severity of the challenges, more specialised assistance might be necessary. Yet, often, learners find the motivation to advance through the understated support systems, such as the extra attention provided by teachers, educators, neighbours, relatable role models, positive peers, and even the guidance of grandparents and colleagues (in case of adult learners).

### Strategies to Overcome Learning Obstacles

Overcoming challenges with learning requires a proactive and comprehensive approach that addresses the specific needs of each learner. There are many things a teacher or trainer can do to facilitate learning and reduce the chance of learning obstacles. However, it is needless to say that some learning obstacles require the support of professionals. Strategies that you can implement in your teaching or training style include:

- identifying the learning styles of learners;
- breaking tasks into smaller steps;
- utilising multisensory techniques;
- practicing regular review and repetition.

The scope of this manual does not encompass the detailed explanation of these strategies. However, numerous online resources delve into these topics extensively. Below are outlined two approaches that can be integrated into all four different techniques.

#### **Differentiated Instruction**

Differentiated instruction involves tailoring teaching methods, materials, and activities to meet the diverse needs, learning styles, and abilities of individual learners within a classroom. Here are some strategies for differentiating instruction:

- assess learners' readiness;
- provide flexible grouping;
- offer varied learning materials;
- adjust content complexity;
- use tiered assignments;
- provide multiple modalities;







- offer accommodations and modifications;
- leverage technology;
- encourage learner choice;
- differentiate assessments;
- conduct individual conferences;
- promote peer tutoring and collaboration;
- allow flexible timelines;
- foster reflection and metacognition;
- provide professional development for teachers.

Differentiating instruction requires careful planning, ongoing assessment, and a deep understanding of each learner's strengths and needs. By implementing these strategies, teachers can create a more inclusive and responsive learning environment that supports the diverse needs of all learners.

#### **The Power of Positivity**

Stimulating positivity in the learning environment can have a significant impact on learners' motivation, engagement, and overall learning outcomes. Here are some strategies to foster a positive learning atmosphere:

- create a safe and supportive environment;
- encourage a growth mindset;
- celebrate success;
- use positive reinforcement;
- focus on strengths;
- design engaging and interactive lessons;
- incorporate humour;
- offer choices;
- use positive language;
- foster collaboration and peer support;
- display inspirational quotes;
- introduce mindfulness and relaxation techniques;
- encourage reflection;
- highlight real-life connections;
- foster positive teacher-learner relationships.

By creating a positive learning environment that values effort, growth, and collaboration, educators can stimulate positivity in learners' attitudes towards learning. A positive mindset fosters resilience, a love for learning, and a sense of empowerment that can lead to increased academic achievement and lifelong learning.







### Some Relevant Theoretical Concepts on Learning Relevant for all Learners

There are many theories that might be relevant and useful ground material when working with learners with diverse needs. Each theory offers valuable insights into different aspects of learning and can be applicable in various educational settings. However, some of the most influential and widely recognised theories on learning from the provided list are presented in the table below.

Theory	Description
Social cognitive theory	This theory, proposed by Albert Bandura, is highly regarded for its emphasis on the role of observational learning, modelling, and social interactions in the learning process. It has significant implications for understanding how learners acquire new behaviours and knowledge through observing others and the environment.
Cognitive load theory	Cognitive load theory, introduced by John Sweller, focuses on the capacity of working memory and how the design of instruction can impact learning efficiency. It has substantial applications in instructional design and can help educators optimise learning experiences for learners by managing cognitive load.
Universal design for learning	UDL is a powerful framework that advocates for designing flexible learning environments to accommodate the diverse needs of all learners. It emphasises providing multiple means of representation, engagement, and expression to ensure equitable access to learning opportunities.
Self-regulated learning	Self-regulated learning is a crucial concept that emphasises learners' active role in managing their learning process. It involves setting goals, planning, monitoring, and regulating one's learning strategies. This theory is significant for promoting learner autonomy and metacognitive skills.
Growth mindset	The concept of growth mindset, developed by Carol Dweck, has gained widespread recognition for its impact on motivation and achievement. It highlights the importance of believing in one's ability to improve through effort and challenges the idea of fixed intelligence.







While these five theories stand out for their impact on educational practice and research, it is essential to recognise that each theory contributes unique insights to the field of learning. Educators often combine elements from multiple theories to develop comprehensive approaches that address diverse learning needs and optimise learner learning outcomes.

### What does this Mean in Daily Practice? Examples by Lava Legato Team

This chapter provided a strong theoretical foundation by providing a clear and expansive overview of topics such as identifying and addressing diverse learning needs of diverse learners, as well as touching upon effective strategies to overcome learning challenges. However, to give meaning to the previous sections and to illustrate the real-world implications and situations, in the following sections will be described Lava Legato's approach in the EmpowHERment LAB project, once again emphasizing the need to know your learners and their learning needs in order to successfully implement your teachings and achieve the learning outcomes you set.

For this project Lava Legato's Dutch team has worked together with females facing various limitations, residing within care facilities and benefiting from the assistance of professional care organisations. With over two decades of experience collaborating closely with these organisations, the Lava Legato foundation has fostered a robust partnership. This collaboration involves international volunteers who support individuals with limitations. The international volunteers are participating in the European Solidarity Corps program. This longstanding engagement has allowed Lava Legato to establish a wide-reaching network spanning more than 20 care locations. Notably, this network extends beyond the care facilities to encompass individual clients who avail thems elves of the services provided by these care organisations. The individuals within this network grapple with a range of challenges, including cognitive, physical, and neurological limitations, either in isolation or as a complex combination. In the context of the target







groups, our engagement has encompassed a wide array of all of the presented groups. It is worth noting that many individuals often belong to more than one category, illustrating the complexity of their circumstances. For instance:

- Individual A: A 35-year-old female originally from Colombia, afflicted by spina bifida, relying on a wheelchair for mobility, possessing limited reading skills, and struggling with managing her personal finances, particularly budgeting.
- Individual B: A 45-year-old female of Moroccan descent, confined to a wheelchair due to an Acquired Brain Injury. She resides in a care facility where she receives support for daily activities such as personal care and household tasks. She is struggling with academic skills, which include reading and writing, and she faces isolation and loneliness, with minimal social interactions outside the facility.

The diversity of limitations in this population is mirrored by the breadth of challenges they encounter. The challenges outlined often intersect and exacerbate one another. For instance, the combination of reading difficulties stemming from being a second language learner can reduce motivation for staying informed about important matters. These struggles might reinforce the inhibition of expressive skills that might give rise to emotional and behavioural issues, compounding any existing lack of motivation. Additionally, physical limitations can contribute to an individual's overall health, potentially leading to conditions like obesity, which in turn amplify emotional and behavioural challenges. Notably, all the barriers elucidated resonate with the experiences of the individuals we have worked with.

We frequently encounter individuals who carry a weighty history of perceived "failure," leading them to shy away from activities that might evoke feelings of inadequacy. This deep-seated aversion to failure can often serve as a formidable barrier to their participation in various activities.

To effectively identify learning obstacles, our role and relationship with the target group are distinctive and shaped by specific circumstances. Although we maintain direct client access and interaction, we operate independently from the professional network, providing support solely through volunteers. Regrettably, access to assessment tools and the time to utilise these tools are constrained. Consequently, we must devise methods to connect with clients through established professional connections and exhibit adaptability to engage the target audience.

In the Netherlands' care system, the principle of freedom of choice is emphasised. Consequently, individuals with limitations retain the right to decline participation in various training or learning initiatives. This often leads many clients to opt out of learning-related activities due to their aversion to potential failure, a sentiment elucidated earlier. Empowering the target group by enhancing their digital skills, presents another challenge. The vulnerable nature of our clientele necessitates that professionals







supporting them strongly advise against online registration, picture sharing, disclosing email addresses, or visiting unfamiliar websites due to the multitude of online risks like malware, phishing, identity theft, and scams. This stance has rendered online registration and image sharing prohibitive for those we work with, making MOOC registration especially formidable.

Our capacity to engage the (professional) network is constrained. While we have permission to collaborate with the target group, care system professionals cannot be directly involved due to their demanding work schedules.

Given these factors, effectively empowering our target group with digital skills demands an approach that captivates them through unobtrusive, tailored, small-scale activities. These endeavours should be brief, minimising attention demands, and should include teaser activities that align with the audience's interests (e.g., creating appealing social media images with a smartphone). Moreover, registration-free activities are preferable, with location-based meetings organised to accommodate varying attendance levels.

In guiding the workshop leader, it is crucial to employ plain language, accommodate spontaneous client inquiries, integrate diverse subjects aligning with client interests, and celebrate learners' minor accomplishments to foster positivity.

We want to conclude this chapter by detailing the practical implementation of theoretical concepts for our specific target groups:

- Social cognitive learning: We endeavour to make the learning experience pleasant and appealing by involving different client groups and international volunteers in creating enjoyable learning events.
- Cognitive load theory: We minimise cognitive load by delivering minimal theoretical content and avoiding complex terminology.
- Universal design for learning: Despite limitations, we strive to tailor interactions to individual interests and cognitive levels. Small group settings encourage mutual inspiration while enabling personalised attention.
- Self-regulated learning: During our sessions, we actively engage clients, encouraging them to attempt tasks, respond to queries, and share experiences to maximise their involvement.
- **Growth mindset**: We champion the concept of 'achievement,' even in its smallest forms, as indicators of potential growth and development.





### **Teaching Aid Resources**

The following reflection questions and an interactive empathy-building exercise are created to deepen educators' understanding and enhance skills in addressing the needs of diverse learners. This teaching aid aims to encourage educators to introspect on past experiences, balance classroom dynamics, and cultivate cultural competence and resilience. By engaging in these activities, educators can refine their approaches, ensuring their teaching methods are not only inclusive but also effectively tailored to individual learners' needs, aligning with the chapter's emphasis on nurturing an inclusive and adaptable learning environment.

#### **Reflection Questions**

- Reflect on a time when you worked with diverse learners. What strategies did you use, and what was the outcome?
- How can educators balance the needs of the entire class while supporting individuals from diverse learning groups?
- What are the key factors in creating an inclusive learning environment that supports diverse learners?
- What role does cultural competence play in effectively supporting diverse learning groups in the learning process?
- How can educators ensure that their teaching methods are not only inclusive but also responsive to the diverse needs of learners?
- Reflect on the impact of the educator's own biases and preconceptions. How can these be identified and addressed to better support diverse learners?
- Discuss the importance of resilience and adaptability in learners from diverse backgrounds. How can educators foster these qualities?
- What are effective ways to engage family or community members in the educational process of learners from diverse learning groups?

#### **Interactive Exercise: Empathy Building**

**Description**: Role-play scenarios where educators and learners switch roles. Divide participants into pairs. One plays the role of an educator, while the other assumes the role of a learner from a diverse learning group. They are given specific scenarios to act out, focusing on common challenges such as language barriers, learning disabilities, or socio-economic constraints. The goal is to help participants understand and empathize with the learner's perspective. After the







role-play, encourage group discussion with the aim to reflect on the experiences and insights gained.

### Further Reading

- Castek, J., Withers, E., Pendell, K.D., Pizzolato, D., Jacobs, G. and Reder, S., 2014. Conquering the computer: Digital literacy acquisition among vulnerable adult learners.
- Dahl, K.L., 1995. Challenges in understanding the learner's perspective. Theory into practice, 34(2), pp.124-130.
- Dutch Media Literacy Network. 2021. Dutch Media Literacy Competency Model 2021. Available at: https://netwerkmediawijsheid.nl/over-ons/about-dutch-media-literacy-network/.
- Edouard, G.T., 2022. DIFFERENTIATED INSTRUCTION: HOW ADULT EDUCATION PROGRAMS CAN FOSTER A LEARNING CULTURE THAT MEETS INDIVIDUAL NEEDS OF ADULT STUDENTS. COABE Journal: The Resource for Adult Education, 11(1).
- Fenwick, T. and Tennant, M., 2020. Understanding adult learners. In Dimensions of adult learning (pp. 55-73). Routledge.
- Han, S.J., Stieha, V., Poitevin, E. and Starnes, T.L., 2018. Growth mindset in adult learning: Systematic literature review.
- Hetzner, S., Steiner, C.M., Dimitrova, V., Brna, P. and Conlan, O., 2011. Adult self-regulated learning through linking experience in simulated and real world: A holistic approach. In *Towards* Ubiquitous Learning: 6th European Conference of Technology Enhanced Learning, EC-TEL 2011, Palermo, Italy, September 20-23, 2011. Proceedings 6 (pp. 166-180). Springer Berlin Heidelberg.
- Illeris, K., 2003. Adult education as experienced by the learners. International journal of lifelong education, 22(1), pp.13-23.
- Karavakou, V. and Antoniou, K., 2021. Educating the Vulnerable: Toward an Emotionally Responsive Phenomenology in Adult Education. *Emotion–Feeling–Mood: Phenomenological and Pedagogical Perspectives*, pp.313-327.
- Kellenberg, F., Schmidt, J. and Werner, C., 2017. The adult learner: Self-determined, self-regulated, and reflective. Signum Temporis, 9(1), p.23.
- Kirschner, P.A., 2002. Cognitive load theory: Implications of cognitive load theory on the design of learning. Learning and instruction, 12(1), pp.1-10.
- Landrum, T.J. and McDuffie, K.A., 2010. Learning styles in the age of differentiated instruction. Exceptionality, 18(1), pp.6-17.
- Liashenko, O., 2020. Adult education: benefits, obstacles, priorities. Economics, Finance and Management Review, (3), pp.95-102.
- McLean, S. and Dixit, J., 2018. The power of positive thinking: A hidden curriculum for precarious times. Adult Education Quarterly, 68(4), pp.280-296.
- Rogers-Shaw, C., Carr-Chellman, D.J. and Choi, J., 2018. Universal design for learning: Guidelines for accessible online instruction. *Adult learning*, 29(1), pp.20-31.
- Schunk, D.H. and Usher, E.L., 2012. Social cognitive theory and motivation. The Oxford handbook of human motivation, 2, pp.11-26.
- Sutcliffe, J., 1992. Integration for Adults with Learning Difficulties: Contexts and Debates. National Institute of Adult Continuing Education, 19B De Montfort Street, Leicester EL1 7GE, England, United Kingdom (4.95 British pounds).







- Taymans, J.M., 2012. Legal and definitional issues affecting the identification and education of adults with specific learning disabilities in adult education programs. *Journal of Learning Disabilities*, 45(1), pp.5-16.
- Titmus, C., 1999. Concepts and practices of education and adult education: obstacles to lifelong education and lifelong learning? International Journal of Lifelong Education, 18(5), pp.343-354.





# Inclusive and Sustainable Education: Embracing Low-tech and No-Tech Solutions

Through their experience working in the integration of Roma communities in Croatia and empowering unemployed individuals to rejoin the labour market, Pučko otvoreno učilište Čakovec offers their insights in to working with non-digital communities.

Funded by the European Union. Views and opinions expressed are however those of the author(s) only and do not necessarily reflect those of the European Union or Agency for Mobility and EU Programmes (AMPEU). Neither the European Union nor the granting authority can be held responsible for them.

This chapter discusses low-tech and no-tech educational approaches, echoing the EmpowHERment LAB project's goal of broad accessibility. It guides educators in implementing these methods, crucial for reaching learners with limited digital access, and reinforces the value of inclusivity in education.

To truly grasp the impact of technology on education, we must examine its influence on a wider scale. The rise of technology – particularly the digital revolution triggered by the COVID-19 pandemic and its aftermath – has fundamentally transformed our lifestyles, work dynamics and modes of communication. While some argue that we have adapted to this era, the abrupt transition towards extensive use of digital tools in our everyday







lives has highlighted disparities in access to and utilization of technologies such as the Internet, applications and software, smart devices and computers. This existing divide further amplifies economic inequalities and can manifest in various ways, across different dimensions as demonstrated in the table below.

### Forms of the Digital Divide

The transition to remote and digital learning during the COVID-19 pandemic made the digital divide glaringly visible across communities worldwide. Stories of learners struggling to participate in online education due to lack of Internet or device access highlighted the urgency of addressing inequities in opportunity and access. However, the digital divide manifests in many forms beyond issues of connectivity and hardware alone. Dimensions across geography, socioeconomic status, age, gender, and other factors reveal layers of disadvantage that education systems must understand in order to promote inclusion. In the table below a systematic view of common dimensions and forms of the digital divide is presented.

Dimension	Form
Affordability	The advancement of technology, in the realm of computers, portable and smart devices, and the Internet as a whole, has resulted in a decrease in prices for Internet access over time. However, there still exists a barrier for households, particularly those with lower or no income.
Internet access	Despite efforts to enhance Internet access through initiatives like WiFi4EU <sup>1</sup> , some regions and communities in Europe still lack fast and reliable connectivity. Rural and remote areas face difficulties in accessing the Internet due to limitations in infrastructure.
Quality of the Internet connection	It is important to note that having Internet access does not automatically guarantee a dependable connection. Conversely, the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> For more on Wifi4EU – the EU's initiative for free WiFi for Europeans, visit https://wifi4eu.ec.europa.eu/.



	quality of the Internet connection can be subpar, which restricts opportunities for activities that require bandwidth such as video conferencing, streaming content or gaming online.
Digital literacy	There is a disparity in literacy and skills between individuals who grew up with technology (digital natives) and those who learned to use computers later in life (digital immigrants) <sup>2</sup> . This digital divide is not only observed among people of different ages but also among individuals from various professions and socioeconomic backgrounds. Furthermore, older generations, those with lower levels of education, and certain occupations, e.g., those who do not employ technology at all, tend to have lower digital literacy.
Accessibility	Despite advancements in recent years, not all digital technology is fully optimized to accommodate individuals with disabilities. This is especially evident in the lack of adequate accessibility features and assistive technologies, which may discourage people with disabilities from using specific devices or software.
Geographical and social isolation	Remote and isolated communities, especially those in rural areas, islands, and mountain regions, face unique challenges in accessing digital technologies and services. These difficulties amplify as people living in the aforementioned areas are often faced with challenges from other dimensions as well, placing them in a triple jeopardy of being not only geographically and socially, but also digitally excluded.
Language and cultural barriers	Linguistic barriers can impede access to digital technologies, particularly for migrants and minority language speakers, who may find it very difficult to access digital content and services in their native



 <sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> For more on digital natives and digital immigrants, visit
 https://aisel.aisnet.org/cgi/viewcontent.cgi?params=/context/bise/article/1254/&path\_info=0
 6\_2013\_StateOfTheArt\_Wang\_Myers\_Sundaram\_DigitalNativesAnd.pdf

	language. It is important to note that the language challenges are not only confined to aforementioned social groups; they can affect the majority population as well. For example, a certain piece of software is not available in the native language of the speaker, and the speaker does not possess the knowledge and skills to proficiently understand the language the software is available in.
Security	Often facing various forms of discrimination and prejudice, vulnerable groups often vary and have concerns about data protection, cybersecurity risks, and online safety. Facing different forms of discrimination and prejudice may threaten to undermine their confidence in using digital technologies.
Gender	While some progress has been made in addressing gender inequalities and biases in the tech industry, they still persist. These biases can impact the development of products and services potentially widening existing digital divides. Additionally, they also affect the end users of these technologies. For example, if a service is primarily designed with men in mind, it is unlikely that women will find it useful or relevant to them.

The European Union has been actively working towards mitigating the digital gap by implementing several policies and initiatives to address digital divides and promote digital inclusion. In 2021, the European Commission published the 2030 Digital Compass: The European Way for the Digital Decade<sup>3</sup> of Communication, which sets out its long-term strategy for the digital transformation of the European Union in four key sectors, as explained below<sup>4</sup>.





<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> See the entire communication at https://eur-lex.europa.eu/legalcontent/en/TXT/?uri=CELEX%3A52021DC0118

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> For more details on Europe's Digital Decade, please visit https://commission.europa.eu/strategyand-policy/priorities-2019-2024/europe-fit-digital-age/europes-digital-decade-digitaltargets-2030\_en.

Key sectors	Indicators
Skills	ICT Specialists: 20 million + gender convergence
	Basic Digital Skills: min 80% of the population
Digital transformation of businesses	Tech up-take: 75% of EU companies using Cloud/Al/Big Data
	Innovators: grow scale-ups & finance to double EU Unicorns
	Late adopters: more than 90% of SMEs reach at least a basic level of digital intensity
Secure and sustainable digital	Connectivity: Gigabit for everyone
init astructures	Cutting-edge Semiconductors: double the EU share in global production
	Data - Edge & Cloud: 10,000 climate- neutral highly secure edge nodes
	Computing: first computer with quantum acceleration
Digitalization of public services	Key Public Services: 100% online
	eHealth: 100% of citizens have access to medical records online
	Digital Identity: 100% of citizens have access to a digital ID

Our educational systems integrate technology and digital learning, making it essential for educators to possess the knowledge and skills to effectively utilize tech, especially information and communications technology (ICT) in their classrooms. However, many teachers find themselves working in classrooms where access to any form of technology is limited or even non-existent. In this chapter we will explore situations where teaching and learning may be hindered due to restricted or no access to technology. These challenges can range from a lack of hardware and Internet connectivity to levels of digital literacy among learners. Therefore, it is crucial to understand the needs of your learners,







including their requirements and proficiency in digital skills. The remaining part of this chapter will therefore focus on approaches that do not heavily rely on technology (referred to as "no tech") or only require its limited use (known as "low tech") while also taking into account sustainability factors.

The concepts of employing methods and strategies that do not heavily rely on technology ("no tech") or only require its limited use ("low tech"), in education are not new. They have actually been utilized before the adoption of computers smart devices, programs and applications. While technology and digital resources have undoubtedly improved education by making it more interactive there are still situations where traditional offline methods continue to demonstrate their value and remain utilized in classrooms. It is important to acknowledge that non-tech and low-tech approaches should not be viewed as competitors to technology-based methods but rather, as tools aimed at enhancing the learning process. In fact, teachers often rely on these approaches when instructing learners who may not have access to or familiarity, with technology.

### Defining No-tech and Low-tech approaches in Adult Education

#### What are no-tech approaches in adult education?

A non tech approach entails avoiding the use of devices and digital tools. This approach places emphasis on interaction, discussion based learning, and practical activities. Educators can employ techniques like storytelling, role playing and problem-solving exercises to engage learners, enhance their learning process and foster knowledge acquisition. Non tech environments encourage learners to disconnect from their devices and fully engage in the learning journey. Sometimes this may be the only method to guide learners in their education due to the reasons outlined earlier.

#### What are low-tech approaches in adult education?

Low tech approaches in adult education involve utilizing basic tools and resources to support learning, such as printed materials, whiteboards and face to face interactions. This approach highlights hands on experiences, personalized instruction and social interaction between learners and instructors. While technology may still be utilized to some extent, for tasks or research purposes, it is not the focus of the educational experience.







In the field of adult education, low tech and no tech methodologies are used to minimize or eliminate the reliance on technology in the learning process. Both approaches aim to create customized, interactive and engaging experiences for adult learners that cater to their unique learning styles and preferences. These approaches can be particularly valuable in situations where technology is limited or unreliable or when learners benefit from a hands-on approach and people centric learning environment. It is important to note that these approaches should be combined with other more technologically-driven methods, when possible, in order to provide the highest quality education for learners. When choosing methods within these two approaches it is crucial to consider the interests of the learners by taking into account their needs, digital literacy levels, access to digital devices and services as well, to ensure their comfort, safety and inclusivity.

The use of specific tools and resources is therefore context-specific – tailored to the current circumstances and learner. The following is a brief overview of the most commonly used examples of techniques and tools within the no-tech and low-tech approaches in adult education. Do note that this is not an exhaustive list, and that you can further expand it in your teaching activities. Moreover, it is preferred you do so, as one of the aims of this manual is to inspire you, motivate you, and allow you to view the teaching about digital technology and ICT from a slightly different perspective than you may have been used to until now.

### Common Tools and Techniques Employed in No-tech and Lowtech Approaches

While closing digital divides completely poses monumental challenges, educators need not wait for technology to enable more equitable learning. Instead, low-tech and no-tech alternatives present simple, practical solutions that communities can begin implementing today. By returning to the fundamentals of pedagogy and learning design, streamlining to essential resources, and leveraging local contexts, impactful instruction happens within reach. This section highlights some of the most common techniques and tools underpinning the no-tech and low-tech approaches.

#### A no-tech approach in adult education

Tool / technique

Used for





Storytelling	Sharing knowledge and experiences through spoken stories and narratives.
Dialogue	Engaging in in-depth discussions and critical thinking without relying on technology.
Mentorship	Learning from experienced individuals in a one-on-one setting without electronic devices.
Hands-on learning	Participating in physical activities and practical demonstrations to learn new skills.
Simulations	Immersing learners in simulated scenarios without the use of digital tools.
Peer teaching	Having learners teach and explain concepts to each other without using electronic devices.
Role-playing	Using live performances and acting to convey complex ideas and messages.
Brainstorming	Fostering creativity and idea generation through collaborative thinking without technology.

No- and low-tech approaches in education have been used more often than one might imagine. For example, during the Great Depression, itinerant book wagons delivered learning materials and served as mobile adult education classrooms in rural areas, representing an early model of distance education without digital technology. Another example can be found in communities without electricity, adult literacy programs often rely solely on reading and writing by daylight or candlelight.

#### Low-tech approach in adult education

Tool / technique	Used for
Physical textbooks	Providing printed books and reading materials for learners to study from.
Whiteboards and chalkboards	Using these traditional tools for presenting information and explanations during lectures.







Handouts and worksheets	Distributing printed materials with exercises and activities for practice.
Pen and paper	Encouraging learners to take notes and write down their thoughts during discussions and lectures.
Face-to-face discussions	Promoting open discussions and debates among learners and with the instructor.
Flip charts and posters	Creating visual aids to complement explanations and facilitate better understanding.
Group work	Encouraging learners to work together in teams to solve problems or complete projects.
Field trips	Organizing visits to relevant places, such as museums or businesses, to gain practical experience.

Π.

Non-digital educational resources can form the backbone of lessons when technology is scarce and sustainable, and eco-friendly materials can also be incorporated, like using slates instead of paper. Offline downloads, DVDs, and USB drives can provide digital content without full Internet access. And low-cost connectivity options like SMS texting or calling can enable remote communication. Educators should also be encouraged to get creative in adapting lessons and activities to low- or no-tech settings. For instance, learners can practice typing on a paper keyboard to familiarize themselves with the layout before switching to available keyboards or devices. Digital math worksheets can be printed out as needed. Research topics can be pre-downloaded for offline access. The core content and learning objectives need not change dramatically; only the mediums and formats used to deliver information do. As illustrated, without extensive technology, tried-and-true teaching methods become even more critical. Lecture-based instruction, the use of visual aids, group discussions, hands-on activities, and project-based learning are all low-tech strategies that remain highly effective. Educators should play to their pedagogical strengths while making incremental technological additions.

As illustrated in the previous paragraphs, even without modern devices, foundational ICT skills can be nurtured. Typing can be practiced using typewriters or computer keyboards shared by multiple learners. Basic computer functions like copying and pasting files can be simulated offline. Unplugged coding activities teach computational thinking through games and puzzles. And math and reading apps can be replaced with skill-building worksheets. With creativity and adaptation, core abilities can be developed using limited resources.





Educators should pay close attention to both the digital divide, and the environmental impact in the classroom. They need to use methods and strategies that are environmentally friendly. Teaching practices should be aimed at reducing the carbon footprint and can include, for example, reusing, repurposing or recycled old materials and resources, choosing energy-saving devices, and going open source. Open educational resources and open-source software such as Linux and LibreOffice have proven to have a more positive environmental impact and less production costs than their commercial counterparts.

When it comes to more offline approaches in your classrooms, be sure to embrace the 5 R's<sup>5</sup> of zero waste: refuse, reduce, reuse, recycle, and rot (compost). Be mindful of the material you use when preparing your lesson. Reuse the empty back side of the printed paper; do not just throw it away. Reduce the amount of paper as a general rule; use erasable whiteboards or recycled paper instead. Have different bins for different waste types, so your learners are introduced to and reminded of waste sorting in management while attending lessons. Incorporate green topics in your lessons. You may not directly teach about them, but have elements of green topics, e.g., recycling, zero waste, pollution, electric cars, waste management, climate crisis, etc., interweave with your main topics. Do not shy away from thinking and teaching green! Next, we are providing you with some recommended resources and tools to get you started.

### Examples of Open and Environmentally-friendly Resources

#### **Open Educational Resources**

- OpenStax: Offers a library of free, peer-reviewed textbooks for college and secondary school courses.
- Khan Academy: Provides a wide range of free, interactive learning modules covering subjects like math, science, and programming.
- MIT OpenCourseWare: Offers free access to course materials for over 2,000 classes taught at MIT.

#### **Open-source software**

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> For more on zero waste, please visit https://theecohub.com/what-are-the-5-rs-of-zero-waste/.







- **LibreOffice**: A free and open-source office suite compatible with Microsoft Office file formats.
- **GIMP**: An open-source image editing tool comparable to Adobe Photoshop.
- Audacity: A free, open-source audio editor suitable for recording and editing podcasts and music tracks.

#### Environmental sustainability resources

- The Greenpeace Guide to Greener Electronics<sup>6</sup>: Provides guidance on purchasing environmentally friendly electronics and reducing e-waste.
- **Energy Star**: Offers resources and tools for reducing energy consumption in homes and businesses. Look for this mark when getting a new digital device.
- Creative Commons: Provides free, open licences for creators to share their work while retaining ownership rights. Use materials published under this licence as they promote open science and education.

In conclusion, the digital divide and learners' unequal access to digital devices and services have created a need to embrace no-tech and low-tech approaches in teaching. This chapter explored the different dimensions and forms in which the digital divide manifests, and also proposed no-tech and low-tech approaches to how to mitigate the consequences arising from this divide. Concrete methods and tools were provided for both approaches explored, while also noting the sustainability element in them. By leveraging open educational resources, open-source software, and environmentally sustainable practices, educators and trainers can promote digital literacy in adult education without breaking the bank or contributing to climate change. So why wait? Start exploring these alternative solutions today and join the growing movement toward more equitable and sustainable practices in adult education.

### A Selection of Unplugged Activities Tailored for Teaching Digital Skills to Adult Learners

Activity

Description

<sup>6</sup> For more information, please visit https://www.greenpeace.org/usa/wpcontent/uploads/2017/10/Guide-to-Greener-Electronics-2017.pdf.







Keyboard practice	Use an old keyboard or make one using cardboard or firm paper. Use cardboard keyboard layouts to help adult learners memorize key locations through repeated practice. Start with the essential keys, then build muscle memory.
Online forms	Provide paper copies of common online forms like job applications, surveys, or medical intake forms. If in doubt, ask the learners what forms they had problems filling out offline and start with their digital counterparts. Guide learners through filling them out accurately and completely.
Internet search strategies	Give adult learners catalogues, phone books, encyclopaedias, directories, or books to use to find specific information using skills like consulting the table of contents, navigating indexes, skimming for keywords, etc. Additionally, prepare a printout of the front pages of the most popular search engines to familiarize the learners with them.
Sharing and privacy	Create sample social media profiles and posts; be sure to include a range of social media platforms. Use the printouts of the materials you created to have the learners identify and discuss what is appropriate to share publicly and privately.
Misinformati on detection	Provide printed articles and have learners use fact-checking strategies to critically assess credibility and discern opinion from fact. Furthermore, discuss how you would check the validity of what was presented to them online.
Security	Teach the principles of strong passwords (length, character variety, substitutions) using offline worksheets. Have learners create and recall samples of robust passwords. Have learners identify the red flags of a sketchy website that may try to steal their passwords and other personal information.

The goal of such activities is to make digital devices and services relatable and practical for adult learners, while building digital literacy and confidence without relying on tech access.

### **Teaching Aid Resources**

The following reflection questions and interactive exercises are designed to explore the role of low-tech and no-tech solutions in education. Educators are encouraged to reflect






on their experiences and consider the benefits and challenges of these approaches, assessing their effectiveness and sustainability. The tasks aim to inspire creativity and innovation in teaching without reliance on technology, aligning with the chapter's focus on fostering inclusive and environmentally conscious educational practices.

#### **Reflection Questions**

- How can low-tech and no-tech solutions contribute to more inclusive education?
- Reflect on a teaching experience where technology was not available. What strategies did you use and what were the outcomes?
- What are the challenges and benefits of incorporating low-tech or no-tech solutions in modern education?
- Consider how low-tech and no-tech educational approaches can be more environmentally sustainable. What are the implications for global education?
- How might low-tech and no-tech solutions foster a different kind of engagement or understanding among learners compared to high-tech solutions?
- Reflect on how educators can assess the effectiveness of low-tech and no-tech teaching methods. What metrics or indicators could be used?
- Discuss the role of creativity and innovation in low-tech and no-tech teaching.
   How can these approaches inspire both educators and learners?
- How can low-tech and no-tech solutions be integrated into a curriculum that predominantly uses technology, creating a balanced approach?

#### Interactive Exercise: Low-Tech Teaching Tools Creation

**Description**: Connect with other educators/teachers and work in groups to create teaching aids using low-tech or no-tech resources. These could range from paper-based games to storytelling methods and hands-on activities, emphasizing the potential of simple resources in educational settings. This task highlights the importance of creativity in teaching and demonstrates how effective learning experiences can be crafted even without advanced technology, fostering a deeper understanding of the principles of inclusive and sustainable education.

#### Real-life Scenario: Implementing a No-Tech Lesson

**Description**: Connect with other educators/teachers, design and deliver a lesson entirely without digital aids, emphasizing the principles of inclusive and sustainable







education. Begin by choosing a suitable topic and creating a detailed lesson plan that relies solely on traditional teaching methods, such as group discussions, roleplaying, and hands-on activities. Gather essential non-digital materials like paper, markers, and physical models. Focus on engaging learners through interactive and creative exercises. After the lesson, reflect on its effectiveness and seek feedback to understand the impact and areas for improvement.

### Further Reading

- Abdillah, L.A., Rofiq, A.A. and Indriani, D.E., 2018. Information technology utilization in environmentally friendly higher education. arXiv preprint arXiv:1811.10856.
- Campana, K. and Agarwal, N.K., 2019. The landscape of research on learning in low-tech environments. Information and Learning Sciences, 120(11/12), pp.687-703.
- Dikhtyar, O., Helsinger, A. and Cummins, P., 2021. Adult education and the impacts of the COVID-19 pandemic: an international perspective. Widening Participation and Lifelong Learning, 23(1), pp.201-210.
- Faradova, G., 2020. Adult education: Contribution to the sustainable development goals. *Quality Education*, pp.1-17.
- Franzenburg, G., 2017. Learning from the past for the future: How to make adult education sustainable. Discourse and Communication for Sustainable Education, 8(2), pp.57-65.
- Ginsburg, L., Sabatini, J. and Wagner, D.A., 2000. Basic skills in adult education and the digital divide.
- Gorski, P., 2005. Education equity and the digital divide. AACE Review (Formerly AACE Journal), 13(1), pp.3-45.
- Hylén, J., 2020. Open educational resources: Opportunities and challenges.
- Jimoyiannis, A. and Gravani, M., 2010. Digital literacy in a lifelong learning programme for adults: Educators' experiences and perceptions on teaching practices. International Journal of Digital Literacy and Digital Competence (IJDLDC), 1(1), pp.40-60.
- Jimoyiannis, A., 2015. Digital literacy and adult learners. The SAGE encyclopedia of educational technology, pp.213-216.
- McGinty, J.M., 2021. Accessible digital learning materials for inclusive adult education. Adult Learning, 32(2), pp.96-98.
- O'Brien, M. and Chambers, D., 2002. Using 'No Tech'Activities to Teach about Technology and Issues of the Online World. In Society for Information Technology & Teacher Education International Conference (pp. 35-37). Association for the Advancement of Computing in Education (AACE).
- Owens, T.M., 2019. Going No-Tech, Low-Tech, and High-Tech. Reference & User Services Quarterly, 59(1), pp.17-22.
- Owusu-Agyeman, Y., 2019. An analysis of theoretical perspectives that define adult learners for effective and inclusive adult education policies. *International Review of Education*, 65(6), pp.929-953.
- Rosen, D.J., 2020. Assessing and Teaching Adult Learners' Basic and Advanced 21st Century Digital Literacy Skills. Adult Literacy Education, 2(1), pp.73-75.
- Wiley, D., Bliss, T.J. and McEwen, M., 2014. Open educational resources: A review of the literature. Handbook of research on educational communications and technology, pp.781-789.













# Statistical Data and Analysis

Enjoy Sicily, through their experience, has gathered statistical data since day one, beginning with the needs analysis done for this project, all the way through to user experience, and extrapolation of Europe-wide, digitalization needs and statistical data.

Funded by the European Union. Views and opinions expressed are however those of the author(s) only and do not necessarily reflect those of the European Union or Agency for Mobility and EU Programmes (AMPEU). Neither the European Union nor the granting authority can be held responsible for them.

Highlighting the importance of data in education, this chapter ties into the EmpowHERment LAB project's evidence-based approach. It aids educators in understanding how data-driven strategies can refine educational programs, particularly for enhancing women's digital literacy.

# Think Globally, Validate Locally!

The advent of technology, in particular the interconnectedness that the rise of the Internet allowed, has provided access to a wealth of global data and research on digital skills development, women in technology, and online learning trends. Reports from organizations like the EU, the OECD, and the World Economic Forum provide indispensable insights into the global landscape. While these global perspectives provide a valuable overview, effective programme development requires local validation and assessment.







The importance of local assessment stems from the diversity that exists across learner groups. Factors like digital proficiency, access to technology, previous exposure to online learning, and specific skill goals can vary greatly depending on demographics. For instance, younger digital native groups may display higher baseline digital fluency and interest compared to older digital immigrant cohorts. Urban populations may have better device access and Internet connectivity compared to rural communities. Educational attainment can impact comfort with online learning formats. Specific skill objectives can range from basic digital literacy to advanced technical competencies across learner profiles. This diversity spotlights the need for tailored content aligned with each local audience's unique requirements. To access that data, the surveys can be effectively implemented in various ways, as illustrated in the table below.

Survey type	Description
Online surveys	Creating online surveys using tools like Google Forms, SurveyMonkey, or Typeform is one of the easiest ways to collect data. You can share links to your survey via email, social media, websites, etc.
Paper surveys	For some respondent groups like older adults or those without reliable Internet access, paper-based surveys may work better. You can hand these out in person or mail them.
Phone or in-person interviews	Conducting surveys verbally over the phone or in face- to-face interviews allows you to collect detailed, qualitative data. It also helps include respondents without Internet / device access.
Focus groups	Hosting structured discussions with small groups of respondents is useful for gathering more nuanced, descriptive data through open-ended conversations.
Intercept surveys	Approaching people in public places to participate in quick in-person surveys is a way to connect with respondents you otherwise could not reach. Locations can be tailored to target demographics.
SMS surveys	Collecting survey responses via text messaging works well for reaching respondents on mobile devices. Keep questions concise given character limitations.





Local assessment and validation enable course creators to think globally while acting locally. Curricula can leverage global research and models while customizing programme delivery for local relevance. Content difficulty, technological integrations, cultural nuances, language availability and accessibility adaptations should account for varied target groups. The synthesis of global best practices and local validation paves the way for transformative change. While a set curriculum may conclude, this is only the beginning for educators now equipped to spearhead digital empowerment initiatives in their communities. Our collective mission is strengthened by leveraging the macro lens of global research through local assessment, evaluation and iteration. What follows is the framework for the creation of the EmpowHERment LAB surveys, presentation of the key findings and the emphasis on surveying diverse learners.

### The Importance of Surveying your Local Learners' Needs

The EmpowHERment LAB meticulously examines six different contexts in which partner organizations operate, which are crucial to the implementation of the project overall and the creation of a quality Bootcamp. These contexts revolve around organizations operating in different sectors, each boasting a diverse portfolio encompassing a wide range of interests, goals, and target audiences. Some of organizations have their own distinct characteristics, allowing the project to tap into a wealth of varied knowledge and expertise. A key part of the strategy is the identification of specific target audiences for each partner. This strategic approach aims to create a comprehensive course tailored precisely to the unique needs of each audience group.

During the inaugural transnational partner meetings, all partner organizations reached unanimous agreement on addressing three distinct target groups: the Croatian, Slovenian, and Dutch partners emphasized the foundational knowledge needed by their potential audience, based on their real-world experience. In contrast, the Italian and Spanish partners agreed on the need to equip their potential audience with intermediatelevel skills for effectively using social media. Meanwhile, the German partner showed a strong interest in developing advanced tools for their audience.

To align with the partners' needs, a thorough target analysis was conducted by designing and implementing a carefully crafted survey. The survey aimed to provide a deep understanding of the specific requirements of diverse audiences. The survey's structure was designed to give each partner a reliable benchmark for comparing audience profiles, making it easier to meet the varied needs of the collaborative initiative. To maximize the breadth of the sample without sacrificing data quality and richness, a concise yet user-







friendly survey consisting of 17 pertinent questions were chosen. This approach ensured the acquisition of essential data to effectively kickstart the content development phase.

### Survey Structure

The survey structure is more than just a framework. It is the foundation that determines the effectiveness and reliability of the data gathered. A well-structured survey not only ensures the clarity and relevance of each question, but it also guides the respondents seamlessly through the process, enhancing the quality and accuracy of their responses. Based on the determined target groups, as well as areas and topics we wanted to explore, the EmpowHERment LAB survey was structured around the following dimensions:

- Age: This demographic information forms the basis for communication strategies.
- **Gender identity**: While the primary goal is inclusivity, understanding gender identity alignment contributes to the broader project objectives.
- Education level: In-depth insights into education levels have been crucial in assessing the complexity of the course—a factor that varies significantly among partner targets.
- Geographical location: A detailed understanding of the audience's geographical distribution has been essential for planning in-person activities, including multiplier events and hub gatherings.
- **Native language**: Knowing the primary language spoken by the audience guides the choice of course language.
- Online activities: Content selection and thematic focus are influenced by a comprehensive analysis of the target audience's online behaviours.
- Device usage: Understanding the devices used to access the Internet shapes content and tool selection strategy.
- Impact of online presence: This section helps gauge self-awareness regarding the influence of social media on the audience's daily lives.
- Online purchasing habits: Partners consider engagement in e-commerce as a critical indicator of the audience's web interaction complexity.
- Online sales experience: The involvement in online sales transactions is a key metric for assessing the audience's capacity to identify web-based opportunities.
- Desired online skills: Given the primary focus of the survey, respondents have the chance to express their preferences regarding the skills they wish to acquire or enhance.







- Career and business aspirations: An open-ended question helps understand the specific requirements and aspirations of the target demographic.
- Perceptions of online marketing: An assessment is made of the audience's understanding of advanced online marketing concepts.
- Engagement in online marketing: The final part of the knowledge assessment probes the practical capacity of the audience to implement online marketing strategies in their daily lives.
- Motivation for enrolment: Finally, data is collected to understand whether potential users perceive a free course in the field as valuable.

Considering the potential inclusion of individuals with limited educational backgrounds or learners, the survey was designed as informal, and characterized by a clear and straightforward language style. As mentioned earlier, the survey's structure was collaboratively created and approved by all consortium partners. This allows for individual adaptations to accommodate unique audience needs while maintaining result integrity and reliability.

### Key Findings in EmpowHERment LAB Surveys

This section will elucidate the approach taken by each country concerning data collection and the subsequent outcomes. Two primary methodologies were employed for conducting the survey: digital and analog. Each partner gathered data from their respective target demographics, primarily originating from their home country. Key findings will be presented next.

#### Croatia

The Croatian partner, Pučko otvoreno učilište Čakovec, is a public adult education institution with a primary mission of providing assistance and support to adult learners. The surveyed learners fall into two categories: A) Roma women seeking to complete their primary education and B) unemployed women aiming to acquire, change, or enhance qualifications through various forms of non-formal, informal, or formal education and training. The approach taken by this partner involved deploying the same survey but in different ways. For group A, data was collected by using analog tools, i.e., printed surveys, and with the support of a moderator that provided help and support to the participants in answering the







questions. The group B received the survey digitally, i.e. as a Google Form, that they filled out on their own. Consequently, the partner analysed two distinct samples. Sample A included 12 Roma women and exhibited a skewed age distribution towards the younger demographic. Education levels did not surpass primary education, and respondents indicated using online devices solely for leisure. Interestingly, they perceived their online time positively impacting their lives. However, this sample showed minimal experience in online transactions and little interest in pursuing free online courses. Sample B included 19 women, with a majority of participants ages 26-45 with all participants having finished secondary education or more. The participants reported spending time online mostly to research topics of interests, followed in the same measure of spending the time for fun and for work. The participants lean towards learning more about digital marketing and creating content. Overall, the data points to the complementary nature of these two samples. Consequently, the Croatian partner adopted a dual approach, reflective of their dual target audience.

#### Germany

Germany's partner, SuperCode, operates with a different structure, as reflected in the survey results. The survey was conducted using digital tools and obtained responses from seven participants, which might be considered a relatively small sample size to extrapolate the partner's target demographics. Nevertheless, the results align with expectations. The sample exclusively comprised adult females with higher education levels, predominantly utilizing digital devices for various purposes, notably work. They demonstrated active engagement in online buying and selling, along with a keen interest in exploring the field of marketing. However, interest in free courses was somewhat lower than anticipated, necessitating further analysis to discern the underlying reasons.

#### Italy

The Italian partner, Enjoy Sicily, predominantly utilized analog tools to administer the survey. The 35 responses obtained featured a diverse group of females with varying ages. The educational distribution leaned towards lower levels, indicating that the surveyed group possessed limited formal education. Their Internet usage primarily revolved around leisure activities, with a preference for mobile phones. Interestingly, online presence did not extend to buying or selling goods, but there





was a notable interest in pursuing courses and delving deeper into online marketing.

#### The Netherlands

The Dutch partner, Lava Legato, provided a sample that encompassed three distinct categories of respondents. These included nine young adults on the autism spectrum, potentially with mild cognitive limitations, residing in a 24/7 support group facility in Zoetermeer. Another group consisted of nine elderly individuals living in a social housing facility in a deprived area in Rotterdam, with no direct support within the facility. Finally, eight respondents had cognitive and physical limitations or a combination of both, residing in a facility in Zoetermeer offering intensive care. Additionally, 26 individuals living in their own apartments had 24/7 support available. Survey results displayed significant heterogeneity. Understanding the partner's target demographics was crucial in interpreting the data correctly. The need for a more basic course with simplified content was identified to cater to partner requirements effectively.

#### Slovenia

The Slovenian partner, Ljudska univerza Lendava, adopted an approach similar to the Croatian partner, utilizing both analog and digital tools. The first sample consisted of local Roma individuals interviewed face-to-face, while the second comprised anonymous respondents accessing the survey through an online campaign. The sample consisted of 54 respondents, primarily within the 36 to 45 years age range. Over 50% of respondents held university degrees. Notably, online activity encompassed leisure, research, and work, with smartphones being the preferred device. A significant majority of respondents engaged in online buying and selling.

#### **S**pain

Building Bridges, the Spanish partner, collected results through digital tools, achieving substantial success with 470 responses, which was somewhat expected due to them operating in a metropolitan area. The demographic profile was predominantly in line with partner expectations, consisting mainly of women aged 18 to 25 years old. The majority held higher education degrees, and online presence was motivated by a range of factors, with leisure being predominant.







Various devices were utilized. Respondents perceived their online experiences as equally positive, negative, and neutral. Significantly, almost all respondents engaged in online purchasing, and over 50% were involved in online sales. The sample exhibited a strong interest in enrolling in free courses.

#### **Overall Outcome**

The general outcome of the survey incorporated 649 responses primarily from partner countries. These outcomes are now examined collectively to discern overarching trends. While initially considering all 649 responses may seem appropriate, this approach was not selected due to the substantial number of Spanish respondents, which could potentially skew the results. Thus, the partners chose to analyse the outcomes by calculating a simple average weighted equally across all partner surveys. Further examination revealed that the trends observed in the weighted average did not significantly diverge from those of the simple average, besides respondent age and device usage.

#### **Open-Ended Results**

Certain survey data, stemming from open-ended questions, required more nuanced analysis due to their qualitative nature:

- Respondents' origin and native language predominantly aligned with their respective partner countries.
- Regarding desired online skills, respondents fell into three categories based on complexity: basic, intermediate, and advanced, tailored to partner objectives.
- The digital skills needed to pursue business aspirations followed a similar threetier structure.

### Strength in the Diversity

Diversity among the partners is a central element of our educational initiative. Each partner possesses a unique organizational structure, purpose, and target audience. In light of these variations, it was imperative that the development of our course accommodate these differences. As a result, the partners reached a consensus to divide the course into modules and assign the creation of each module to a different partner. This approach is driven by the objective of producing a course that is valuable to all end







users while maintaining a strong focus on meeting the needs of the specific target group associated with each partner.

This collaborative effort has yielded a course comprised of diverse modules, each offering varying levels of complexity. We recognize that our user base consists of individuals with differing levels of experience in the field, ranging from beginners to intermediates to advanced learners. A challenge that arose from this diversity is how to address the potential disconnect between the content's complexity and the user's level of expertise. To address this challenge, the partners have devised a thoughtful strategy. For beginners, the primary goal of the course is to provide them with the ability to comprehend even the most intricate concepts, acknowledging that mastery may not be immediate. Advanced users, on the other hand, can view this course as a foundational stepping stone, preparing them for more specialized courses tailored to their expertise. Intermediate users occupy a middle ground, benefiting from a comprehensive journey that begins with foundational knowledge and progresses towards practical skills, which are not only applicable in their everyday lives but can also be instrumental in the development of entrepreneurial ideas.

This approach underscores the adaptability and inclusivity of our course, ensuring that it can effectively cater to a wide spectrum of learners, all while imparting knowledge and skills in a manner that aligns with their unique needs and aspirations. More on the foundation block and the development of the EmpowHERment LAB Bootcamp is available in the following chapter.

### **Teaching Aid Resources**

The following reflection questions are designed to consider how data can customize digital education for diverse groups of women and the importance of ongoing data analysis in refining educational programs. Challenges in data collection and analysis for educational purposes are also addressed. The interactive exercise involves a workshop for educators to work with data sets related to digital education for women, aiming to apply data analysis to inform educational strategies. Additionally, a real-life scenario task is presented, where educators evaluate a digital skills programme for women using statistical data to make data-driven improvements.

#### **Reflection Questions**

How can data be used to tailor digital education programs to the specific needs of different groups of women?







- Reflect on the role of continuous data collection and analysis in adapting and improving educational programs over time.
- What challenges might arise in collecting and analysing statistical data in the context of education programs?
- How can statistical data inform and improve digital education programs for women?
- Reflect on the importance of data accuracy and integrity in educational research.

#### **Interactive Exercise: Data Interpretation Workshop**

**Description**: Conduct a workshop where educators analyse actual or simulated data sets related to digital education for women. The goal is for learners to analyse the data, draw conclusions, and discuss how these insights could influence educational strategies.

#### **Real-life Scenario: Programme Evaluation**

**Description**: Present a hypothetical scenario where educators must evaluate the effectiveness of a digital skills training programme for women. They will use provided statistical data to assess the program's impact, identify areas for improvement, and propose data-driven recommendations.

### Further Reading

- Ansello, E.F., 1982. Mature adult learners and the need to know. Contemporary Educational Psychology, 7(2), pp.139-151.
- Barden, O., Youl, W. and Youl, E.J., 2016. Including adult learners from diverse cultural backgrounds. Teaching, Coaching and Mentoring Adult Learners: Lessons for Professionalism and Partnership, Abingdon: Routledge.
- Conner, N.W., Dev, D. and Krause, K., 2018. Needs assessment for informing extension professional development trainings on teaching adult learners.
- Diep, A.N., Zhu, C., Cocquyt, C., De Greef, M., Vo, M.H. and Vanwing, T., 2019. Adult learners' needs in online and blended learning. Australian Journal of Adult Learning, 59(2), pp.223-253.
- Dohmen, D., Yelubayeva, G. and Wrobel, L., 2019. Patterns in adult education participation in Europe. FiBS-Forum.
- Drago-Severson, E., 2004. Becoming adult learners: Principles and practices for effective development. Teachers College Press.







- Ecclestone, K., 2002. Care or control? Defining learners' needs for lifelong learning. In Lifelong Learning (pp. 77-88). Routledge.
- Fenwick, T. and Tennant, M., 2020. Understanding adult learners. In Dimensions of adult learning (pp. 55-73). Routledge.
- Grant, J., 2002. Learning needs assessment: assessing the need. Bmj, 324(7330), pp.156-159.
- Hansman, C.A. and Mott, V.W., 2010. Adult learners. Handbook of adult and continuing education, pp.13-23.
- Knott, E.S., 1991. Working with culturally diverse learners. Journal of Developmental Education, 15(2), p.14.
- McKimm, J. and Swanwick, T., 2009. Assessing learning needs. British Journal of Hospital Medicine, 70(6), pp.348-351.
- Ross-Gordon, J.M., 2011. Research on adult learners: Supporting the needs of a student population that is no longer nontraditional.
- Shi, H., 2017. Planning Effective Educational Programs for Adult Learners. World Journal of Education, 7(3), pp.79-83.
- Ślósarz, L., Błaszczyński, K., Švecová, M. and Kobylarek, A., 2022. Adult education needs inventory: Construction and application. Frontiers in Psychology, 13, p.1035283.
- Smith, S.P., 2017. Adult learners: Effective training methods. Professional safety, 62(12), pp.22-25.
- White, C.B., Cooper, L.A., Edwards, M. and Lyon, J., 2013. Assessing learners' needs. Oxford Textbook of Medical Education, p.453.





# Building a Bootcamp: A Comprehensive Look at Methodologies and Challenges Faced

SuperCode explains how the EmpowHERment LAB Bootcamp was developed, the resources created, the methodologies, commenting on the challenges in developing materials which are apt for use with complex and remote target groups evaluation and follow-up results as well as the impact.

Funded by the European Union. Views and opinions expressed are however those of the author(s) only and do not necessarily reflect those of the European Union or Agency for Mobility and EU Programmes (AMPEU). Neither the European Union nor the granting authority can be held responsible for them.

Covering the development of the educational bootcamp, this chapter is pertinent to the EmpowHERment LAB project's hands-on training goals. It provides educators with practical insights into organizing effective, skillfocused learning experiences, aligning with the project's objective of empowering women in tech.

The EmpowHERment LAB Bootcamp is an innovative training programme that aims to empower women to develop high-quality skills and digital competencies that would enable them to reach their full potential as entrepreneurs in the ICT sector. The programme includes five main modules that cover concepts and techniques related to digital marketing, web analytics, user behaviour, search engine optimization, search





engine marketing, content marketing, online marketing, empowerment, and social entrepreneurship.

This part of the methodological manual will further explore topics on implementing and providing an inclusive online bootcamp that incorporates presentations, videos, and tailored modules for learners with disabilities or language barriers. This chapter covers the entire process, from planning to execution, ensuring that the bootcamp accommodates a diverse range of learners.

### **Resources** Created

As previously mentioned, the five learning modules of the EmpowHERment LAB Bootcamp are designed with the target learners in mind, having been tailored to their learning needs and also incorporating accessibility features making the Bootcamp be as inclusive as much as possible. Below you can find a brief overview of the aforementioned learning modules according to their content / topics and learning objectives.

Module	Content / Topics	Learning objectives	
Empowerment via digital literacy	a) Internet domains overview	a) Identify various domains of Internet use	
,	b) Essential online skills	<ul> <li>b) Understand the essential skills for effective Internet use</li> </ul>	
	c) Digital journeys	c) Apply skills strategically to	
	d) Digital pathways	accomplish online objectives	
		d) Develop a targeted action plan for digital skill development	
Fundamentals of digital footprints	a) Personal branding and social media	a) Understand the fundamentals of personal branding and its significance in job seeking and	
•	b) Content creation	entrepreneurship. Learn to articulate a unique value	
	c) Digital organization	proposition and identify a target	
	d) Digital calling cards	Develop a professional online	
	e) Success stories	message.	





/////			
		Strategize to presence thre thought leade Navigate maj platforms to branding effo	build an online ough networking and ership. or social media enhance personal rts.
		) Grasp the pr King" and its engagement of Differentiate and select ap various platfo Create high-of specific conte expand an au	inciple of "Content is impact on audience on social media. between content types propriate formats for orms. quality, platform- ent to engage and dience.
		) Employ digita work and per Integrate per digital organi identity enha	I tools for efficient rsonal life management. sonal branding into zation for professional ncement.
		) Utilize digital personal web effectively re branding. Learn to crea calling cards coding skills.	platforms to create osites and profiles that present personal ate compelling digital without the need for
		) Analyse real- understand th of digital skill Draw inspira stories to gui professional development	life examples to he practical application s. tion from success ide personal and digital strategy
Digital search strategies: SEM / SEO / SEA	<ul> <li>a) Introduction to SEM</li> <li>/ SEO / SEA</li> <li>b) ONpage &amp; OFFpage</li> <li>and social media</li> </ul>	) Understand t differences b SEA Recognize th keywords and	he basic concepts and etween SEM, SEO, and e importance of d user search intent in
	c) Keywords and	online marke	ting
	success evaluation	) Learn the teo and off-page website rank	hniques for on-page SEO to improve ing



/



	<ul><li>d) Basics for developers</li><li>e) Success evaluation</li></ul>	Understand how social media contributes to SEO and the use of social signals
	f) SEA and its benefits	c) Identify strategies for keyword research and selection Assess the success of SEO efforts through keyword performance and traffic analysis
		d) Comprehend the SEO fundamentals important for website development Implement SEO-friendly website structures and content strategies
		e) Evaluate the effectiveness of SEO strategies and the ROI of digital marketing efforts Utilize tools for monitoring keyword rankings, organic traffic, and other key performance indicators
		<ul> <li>f) Understand the immediate impact of SEA on web presence and its cost implications Learn to set up, monitor, and assess the success of SEA campaigns</li> </ul>
Content marketing	<ul> <li>a) What is content marketing?</li> <li>b) Content marketing types</li> <li>c) Content marketing</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>a) Define content marketing and differentiate it from traditional advertising.</li> <li>Understand the role of content marketing in adding value and building customer relationships.</li> </ul>
	<ul> <li>c) Content marketing strategies</li> <li>d) Self-promotion</li> <li>e) Examples and upcoming trends</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>b) Explore various types of content marketing, including blogs, case studies, podcasts, and videos. Assess which content types are best suited for different marketing goals and audiences</li> </ul>
		c) Develop SMART goals for content marketing efforts. Learn to create buyer personas and tailor content to different stages of the buyer's journey



		<ul> <li>d) Implement strategies for positive self-promotion and personal branding. Recognize the importance of appearance, attitude, and preparation in self-marketing</li> <li>e) Analyse successful content</li> </ul>
		marketing examples to inform future strategies. Identify and adapt to emerging trends in content marketing.
Online marketing	<ul> <li>a) What is online marketing?</li> <li>b) Main channels</li> <li>c) Productivity and social media</li> <li>d) Effects of social media on people</li> <li>e) Let's advertise our business together</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>a) Define online marketing and distinguish it from traditional marketing forms. Understand the role and impact of online marketing in modern business.</li> <li>b) Identify and analyse various channels of online marketing, including email marketing and social media. Learn the effectiveness of different online marketing channels and their roles in a marketing strategy.</li> <li>c) Explore the relationship between productivity and the use of social media as a marketing tool. Recognize the benefits and challenges of advertising on different social media platforms.</li> <li>d) Discuss how social media influences consumer behaviour and societal trends. Understand the positive and negative impacts of social media on personal and professional spheres.</li> <li>e) Learn to create a Facebook business account and utilize it for advertising purposes. Develop skills to craft effective social media advertising campaigns and measure their success.</li> </ul>





### Preparing for your Online Bootcamp

A strong foundation is essential when building any product or creating any resource, and an educational bootcamp is no exception. Before starting to build an online bootcamp we recommend the following steps:

#### **Defining Objectives and Target Audience**

In establishing the framework for your bootcamp, it is crucial to clearly define its goals and objectives. The primary aim is the development of a well-structured and effective learning program. Acknowledging the diverse landscape of learners, the bootcamp recognizes the necessity for customization to cater to different target groups. This inclusivity extends to accommodating various demographics, such as people with disabilities, and addressing challenges related to interests and social dynamics within different communities.

What sets this bootcamp apart is its commitment to delving into not only digital literacy essentials, but also the technical aspects of digital marketing, covering areas like SEO and sales. However, it is essential to acknowledge the inherent challenges in designing modules that delve into these intricate subjects. Despite these challenges, the bootcamp remains steadfast in its dedication to providing comprehensive coverage of a wide range of digital marketing and literacy topics.

In tandem with defining objectives, it is imperative to identify the target audience and their specific needs. This involves a thorough consideration of learners with disabilities or language barriers. By understanding and addressing these unique requirements, the bootcamp can ensure a more inclusive and effective learning experience for all learners.

#### **Curriculum Design**

In the second phase of bootcamp development, meticulous attention to curriculum design is paramount for a successful learning experience.

Begin by crafting a well-structured curriculum that clearly outlines modules and sessions. This roadmap serves as a guide, ensuring a logical and progressive flow of topics. The goal is to provide learners with a comprehensive understanding of the subject matter.





Simultaneously, it is crucial to assess which modules necessitate customization to enhance accessibility and language support. Recognizing the diverse needs of learners, this step ensures that the content is not only informative but also inclusive. Modules requiring such adaptations should be identified and modified to cater to a broader audience, accounting for varying learning styles, abilities, and language preferences.

By addressing customization needs early in the curriculum design process, the bootcamp sets the stage for an inclusive and effective learning journey, meeting the diverse requirements of learners and fostering a supportive educational environment.

### Methodologies

The EmpowHERment LAB Bootcamp used innovative methodologies to create an inclusive learning environment for all learners. The programme offers intensive training itineraries that provide learners with excellent preparation to jump to the labour market and entrepreneurship in the ICT sector. The main characteristics of the programme are small classes and a very concentrated syllabus. The programme also has different learning levels to adapt the content to different learning models, guaranteeing more inclusion and best results for all learners.

### **Content Creation and Adaptation**

We tried to make the EmpowHERment LAB accessible to all, especially for individuals with disabilities, remote communities, linguistic minorities, and vulnerable groups. Issues include a lack of accessibility features, geographic and social exclusion, linguistic barriers, and biases in the tech industry. Discrimination and concerns about data protection further complicate the use of digital technologies. Here are some methods to make your course more accessible. Our project focused on, and implemented the following:

#### **Creating PowerPoint Presentations**

The foundational step in the educational journey involves the development of engaging and informative PowerPoint presentations for each module. These presentations serve as a primary instructional tool, conveying key concepts and facilitating effective learning. To ensure inclusivity, it is imperative to adhere to accessibility guidelines rigorously. This includes incorporating alt text for images,







thereby making the content accessible to learners with visual impairments or other accessibility needs.

#### **Producing Educational Videos**

In the dynamic realm of digital learning, the integration of high-quality educational videos adds a multi-dimensional layer to the curriculum. However, recognizing the diverse needs of learners, it is essential to go the extra mile. Recordings should not only be visually enriching but also considerate of individuals with hearing impairments or language difficulties. Therefore, incorporating subtitles or captions becomes a crucial practice, fostering an inclusive learning environment for all.

YouTube is not only the leading video repository platform, but also a top 3 social media site. By freely uploading and storing your videos on YouTube you save resources and also reach a wider audience. Furthermore, the builtin auto-generation and auto-translation of subtitles adds an additional layer of accessibility to your created video content.

#### **Customizing Modules for Accessibility**

Acknowledging the unique requirements of learners with disabilities, the next imperative step involves customizing specific modules for accessibility. This adaptation goes beyond surface-level changes, delving into the core content to ensure a seamless learning experience for everyone. Alternative content formats, such as transcripts and accessible PDFs, should be integrated. This ensures that information is presented in diverse ways, accommodating varied learning preferences and accessibility needs.

Having your online course developed and shipped on a free and open-source platforms such as WordPress and Moodle allows you to tap into the platform's repositories of plugins that enhance the platform's functionality. Among such plugins there is plethora that allow for accessibility feature such as font size or contrast control to be added to your course.

By meticulously addressing these aspects, the creation and customization of learning materials not only becomes informative but also universally accessible, fostering an environment where every learner can thrive in their learning journey.





### Selection of an Online Learning Platform

Choosing the right online learning platform is crucial for delivering an effective bootcamp experience. With the advent of technology, and a technological boom that seemingly gives rise to new platforms, tools and services daily, there is a plethora of IT options for you to choose from. Follow these key steps when going through the selection process:

#### I. Define Requirements

- Outline must-have functionality like content hosting, assessments, analytics etc.
- Specify accessibility needs and multi-language support needs.
- Set goals for learner experience engagement, collaboration, user-friendliness.

#### 2. Research Your Options

- Explore various e-learning platform providers and compare feature sets.
- Check platforms against defined requirements and priorities.
- Try demos to test user experience and functionality firsthand.

#### **3. Perform Due Diligence**

- Thoroughly vet security, privacy, and compliance standards.
- Review third-party integration capabilities and customization options.
- Confirm technical reliability and scalability to handle target usage levels.

#### 4. Make Your Selection

- Weigh pros and cons of top contenders based on features, user experience, and budget fit.
- Obtain stakeholder input from trainers, teachers and pilot learners if needed.
- Select platform that best aligns to programme goals and target audience needs.

#### 5. Onboard and Deploy

- Set up admin, trainer and learner accounts, enrolments permissions etc.
- Configure branding, site content, assessment rules to fit programme specifically.
- Test thoroughly before launch, address any issues during onboarding.







### Accessibility Implementation

By implementing the following methods, online course creators can contribute to a more inclusive and accessible learning experience for individuals facing various challenges in accessing digital education.

#### **Accessibility Features**

- Ensure that online course platforms and content are designed with accessibility features, such as screen reader compatibility, closed captioning, and adjustable font sizes.
- Provide alternative formats for course materials, such as transcripts for videos and accessible PDFs for presentations.

#### Localization and Multilingual Support

- Translate course content into multiple languages to cater to linguistic diversity.
- Use subtitles or provide transcripts in different languages for video content.
- Offer language proficiency support or tools for learners facing language challenges.

#### **Geographic Considerations**

- Recognize the limitations of remote and isolated communities and choose technologies that are bandwidth-friendly.
- Provide downloadable resources for users with limited Internet access.
- Schedule live sessions at times that accommodate different time zones.

#### **Diversity and Inclusion Training**

- Integrate modules addressing diversity and inclusion, ensuring sensitivity to cultural differences.
- Encourage discussions on inclusivity to create a safe learning environment for all learners.

#### **User-Centred Design**

- Involve diverse groups in the development process to avoid biases in course content and technology.
- Collect feedback from various user groups to continually improve the course's relevance and accessibility.

#### **Data Protection and Online Safety**





- Clearly communicate privacy measures and data protection policies to alleviate concerns.
- Provide resources on online safety, cybersecurity, and ways to report any issues.

#### Gender-Inclusive Content

- Develop course content that considers diverse perspectives and experiences, avoiding gender biases.
- Use language that is inclusive and respectful of all gender identities.

#### **Empowerment and Confidence Building**

- Incorporate content that empowers vulnerable groups in their use of digital technologies.
- Highlight positive examples of individuals overcoming challenges and succeeding in the digital realm.

#### Flexible Learning Paths

- Allow for flexible learning paths to accommodate different learning styles and paces.
- Provide additional resources for those who may need more support or time to grasp the content.

#### **Engagement and Community Building**

- Foster a sense of community through discussion forums, ensuring that all voices are heard and respected.
- Encourage peer support and collaboration, creating a supportive online learning environment.

### Language Support

Linguistic backgrounds vary greatly amongst adult learners, while language barriers can significantly impact comprehension and engagement with course content. Prioritizing multi-language inclusion from the outset aims to remove participation hurdles. Two effective approaches are highlighted in this section: multilingual support and languagespecific assistance.

#### Multilingual Support





In the pursuit of creating an inclusive learning environment, the integration of multilingual support is foundational. This involves not only recognizing diverse linguistic backgrounds but actively providing tools to bridge language gaps. Incorporate subtitles, translations, or language-specific resources for course content. Clear communication about the availability of these language options is essential, ensuring that learners are aware of and can utilize these features seamlessly.

#### Language-Specific Assistance

Recognizing that learners may require language-specific assistance beyond standard course materials, the bootcamp should establish dedicated support channels or resources. These could include forums, help centres, or specialized personnel proficient in different languages. Importantly, these language-specific assistance features should be easily accessible within the bootcamp platform. Learners should feel empowered to seek and receive support in their preferred language, enhancing their overall learning experience and promoting a sense of inclusivity within the educational community.

### Learner Engagement Strategies

For an online bootcamp it is also important to foster engagement and continuous improvement of the learning experience. Two approaches that yielded positive results included the incorporation of interactive elements as well as providing feedback mechanisms in bootcamps.

#### **Interactive Elements**

In the design of the bootcamp curriculum, the infusion of interactive elements is paramount for engaging learners across diverse abilities and language proficiencies. By incorporating features such as quizzes, discussions, and peer-topeer collaboration, the learning experience becomes dynamic and inclusive. Interactive elements not only cater to varied learning styles but also create a participatory environment that transcends language barriers, ensuring that all learners can actively engage with the content.

#### **Feedback Mechanisms**

A fundamental aspect of refining the educational journey involves establishing robust feedback mechanisms. Actively collect feedback from learners to gain





insights into their experiences and to identify areas for improvement. This iterative process enables the bootcamp to evolve and adapt continuously. Particularly, feedback should be instrumental in refining accessibility measures and language support throughout the bootcamp. By listening to learners' input, the curriculum and support mechanisms can be honed to better meet the diverse needs of the learners, creating a more effective and inclusive learning environment.

### Monitoring and Continuous Improvement

Delivering an impactful and adaptive online bootcamp requires ongoing monitoring coupled with a commitment to continuous enhancement based on insights uncovered. The certificates of completition will validate for learners their educational journey; however, different tools and strategies will help you, the course provider, to monitor and continuously improve on your bootcamp. Key steps in doing that include:

- Gather quantitative feedback by implementing systems to collect structured feedback data around learner progression, comprehension, and satisfaction. Surveys and embedded assessments will supply key statistics.
- 2. Qualitative insights through descriptive impressions, comments, critiques, and suggestions from both learners and educators will contextualize and enrich quantitative findings.
- 3. By combining quantitative and qualitative inputs, you will analyse patterns to pinpoint programme gaps and friction points. Review analytics dashboards and audit course components to isolate issues.
- 4. Drill down on prevalent problems to diagnose and confirm underlying causes. Differentiate between superficial symptoms and core contributors to prioritize resolution efforts correctly.
- 5. Leverage insights gathered to architect potential solutions, emphasizing enhancements with the widest impact. Outline concrete improvement plans and success metrics.
- 6. Realize adjustments in a measured fashion with iterative pilot testing. Once refined, institute changes across the broader programme and redistribute assessments to quantify true effects.
- 7. Commit to sustained learning agenda by revisiting the assessment, analysis, and refinement cycle regularly. Provide consistent channels for new feedback to safeguard relevance.

89





### Summations

In conclusion, creating an inclusive online bootcamp that accommodates learners with disabilities and language barriers is a complex but rewarding endeavour. By following the steps outlined in this manual, you can ensure that your bootcamp provides valuable learning experiences to a diverse range of learners. Remember to continually assess, refine, and adapt your bootcamp to meet the evolving needs of your learners and maintain a commitment to accessibility and inclusivity.

### **Teaching Aid Resources**

The following teaching aid is focused on identifying key elements that contribute to a successful bootcamp and exploring challenges and solutions in bootcamp management. Reflection questions address customizing bootcamps for diverse learners and integrating learners' feedback. The interactive exercise involves collaborating to design a bootcamp plan, emphasizing innovative programme design. The real-life scenario task challenges educators to strategize solutions for specific issues in bootcamp settings, fostering creative problem-solving and adaptability in educational planning.

#### **Reflection Questions**

- Reflect on the essential components of a successful bootcamp. What makes them effective?
- Discuss the potential challenges in running a bootcamp and how they can be addressed.
- How can bootcamps be tailored to cater to diverse learning styles and backgrounds?
- How can feedback from bootcamp participants be effectively integrated into future programme iterations?
- Reflect on the role of technology in bootcamps. How can it enhance or hinder the learning experience?
- Discuss the importance of community building within a bootcamp. How does it contribute to the overall success of the program?





#### Interactive Exercise: Bootcamp Design Simulation

**Description**: Connect with other educators/teachers and work in groups to create a comprehensive plan for a hypothetical bootcamp. Work on defining the bootcamp's objectives, curriculum content, teaching methodologies, duration and target audience. Consider logistical aspects such as location, resources etc. The aim is to simulate real-world planning and encourage innovative thinking in educational programme design.

#### **Real-life Scenario: Overcoming challenges**

**Description**: Connect with other educators/teachers and present a scenario where the bootcamp faces a specific challenge (e.g., limited resources, diverse learner needs). Brainstorm and develop a strategy to address the challenge, while focusing on creative problem-solving and adaptability. This task aims to help educators in considering practical hurdles and effective solutions in an educational setting.

### Further Reading

- Alamprese, J.A., 1998, April. Adult basic education: Strategies for supporting learning. In International Conference on How Adults Learn.
- Chatterjee, D. and Corral, J., 2017. How to write well-defined learning objectives. The journal of education in perioperative medicine: JEPM, 19(4).
- Dzvapatsva, Godwin Pedzisai, David Tatenda Risinamhodzi, and Courage Matobobo. "Bridging unemployment gaps through ICT Bootcamps: A reality or precarity to equitable learning?" Ukrainian Journal of Educational Studies and Information Technology 11, no. 3 (2023): 177-197.
- Grant, J., 2018. Principles of curriculum design. Understanding medical education: Evidence, theory, and practice, pp.71-88.
- Hegyesi, F., Kopják, J. and Ősz, R., 2014, May. Educational strategies in adult education. In 2014 IEEE 9th IEEE International Symposium on Applied Computational Intelligence and Informatics (SACI) (pp. 219-223). IEEE.
- Kohnke, L., 2019. A New Professional Development Recipe-The ICT Bootcamp. The Teacher Trainer Journal, 33(2), pp.10-13.
- Loizzo, J., Ertmer, P.A., Watson, W.R. and Watson, S.L., 2017. Adult MOOC Learners as Self-Directed: Perceptions of Motivation, Success, and Completion. *Online Learning*, 21(2), p.n2.
- Mace, J. ed., 1995. Literacy, language, and community publishing: essays in adult education. Multilingual Matters.
- McGinty, J.M., 2021. Accessible digital learning materials for inclusive adult education. Adult Learning, 32(2), pp.96-98.







- McKimm, J. and Swanwick, T., 2009. Setting learning objectives. British Journal of Hospital Medicine (2005), 70(7), pp.406-409.
- Millar, C., 1986. Curriculum negotiation in professional adult education. Journal of Curriculum Studies, 18(4), pp.429-443.
- Mourtos, N.J., 2006, March. A systematic approach for defining and assessing program educational objectives and outcomes. In Proc. World Congress on Computer Science, Engng., and Technology Educ.
- Munawarah, M. and Solihah, A.M.A., 2023. Design of Website-Based Online Training (Bootcamp) Testing Management System. NEWTON: Networking and Information Technology, 2(3), pp.138-144.
- Nashashibi, P. and Watters, K., 2003. Curriculum Leadership in Adult Learning. Learning and Skills Development Agency, Regent Arcade House, 19-25 Argyll Street, London WIF 7LS, United Kingdom (Ref. No. 1322, free).
- Price, R. and Dunagan, A., 2019. Betting on Bootcamps: How Short-Course Training Programs Could Change the Landscape of Higher Ed. *Clayton Christensen Institute for Disruptive Innovation*.
- Pronczuk-Omiotek, A., 2017. THE BOOTCAMP AS A LIFELONG EDUCATION TOOL-THE CASE OF IT BRANCH IN POLAND. In *ICERI2017 Proceedings* (pp. 6653-6659). IATED.
- Restoule, J.P., 2013. Massive open online courses and the future of adult education. Proceedings from Canadian Association for the Study of Adult Education, pp.514-520.
- Sample, B., 1990. Thoughts on Curriculum Development in Adult Education.
- Sideris, D., Vaikousi, D. and Kalles, D., 2023. Adult learners' perceptions about MOOC technologies in Adult Education. Ανοικτή Εκπαίδευση: το περιοδικό για την Ανοικτή και εξ Αποστάσεως Εκπαίδευση και την Εκπαιδευτική Τεχνολογία, 19(1), pp.8-28.
- Soifer, R., 1990. The complete theory-to-practice handbook of adult literacy: Curriculum design and teaching approaches (Vol. 1). Teachers College Press.
- Tan, S.C., 2018. Technologies for adult and lifelong education. The palgrave international handbook on adult and lifelong education and learning, pp.917-937.
- Thompson, J.L., 2018. Adult education and the disadvantaged. In Adult education for a change (pp. 83-108). Routledge.





# Conclusion

Pučko otvoreno učilište Čakovec shares some final remarks on the manual and invites you to join the EmpowHERment movement!

Funded by the European Union. Views and opinions expressed are however those of the author(s) only and do not necessarily reflect those of the European Union or Agency for Mobility and EU Programmes (AMPEU). Neither the European Union nor the granting authority can be held responsible for them.

As we navigate the ever-changing landscape of the digital age, the EmpowHERment LAB Methodological Manual makes a highly valuable resource for teachers, educators, and facilitators striving to promote digital literacy and empowerment. By focusing on inclusivity and the empowerment of diverse learners, the manual recognizes the profound impact educators have in shaping a digitally inclusive society, where underrepresented groups, especially women and individuals from marginalized communities, are given equal opportunities to succeed. This manual is more than just a collection of ideas, approaches and guidelines; it is proof of education's power and efficacy in bridging digital access and skills gap. By incorporating these approaches and principles into their teaching, educators are given the opportunity to initiate transformative change with the potential to lead into a more equitable digital future.

Furthermore, the Methodological Manual emphasizes the indispensable role of continuous learning and adaptability in education. In a digital landscape marked by rapid technological advancements, educators are not just facilitators of knowledge but also lifelong learners themselves. The manual offers highly valuable insights into creating learning environments that are adaptable, responsive, and sensitive to the evolving needs of diverse learners as well as learners with diverse needs. It champions educational models that not only respect but celebrate differences, ensuring that digital empowerment reaches every corner of the learning community. Thus, it serves as a call to action for educators to cultivate spaces where learning is inclusive, dynamic, and reflective of the multifaceted nature of our digital world. In essence, this manual is a blueprint for educators striving to ensure that in the age of digital transformation, every learner has the tools, resources, and support needed to succeed.





